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as an education system continues to outperform other 
provinces – especially in the National Senior Certificate 
(NSC) Examinations. Amongst others, Sci-Bono on 
a casual or contract basis, houses over 3000 SSIP  
Trainers who are responsible for guiding the NSC 
candidates in their preparations for their examinations. 
These provide a springboard for matriculants to achieve 
their results. The trainers, through SSIP camps, have a 
reach of over 66 000 Grade 12 learners; in more than 400 
schools across the Province.

As a department, one of our strategic priorities for the 
6th administration, is to “Defend the Crown”. While this 
is true, as a Province, we would also like to increase 
our overall NSC pass rate to 90% and reach the 45% 
target for Bachelor passes. This, we can only achieve 
through collaborative partnerships with institutions like  
Sci-Bono.

It is our hope that our investment in Sci-Bono through 
projects like Re-organisation of Schools (RoS), SoS and 
MST Conditional Grant, will continue to yield results and 
help GDE to cement its position as the number 1 Basic 
Education system in the country. 

Thank you

Mr Andrek (Panyaza) Lesufi (MPL)

Firstly, let me express my gratitude to the Board and  
Staff of Sci-Bono Discovery Centre (Sci-Bono) for 
the altruistic contribution that they continue to make 
towards, amongst others, the implementation of the 
Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics 
(STEM) strategy of the Gauteng Department of Education 
(GDE). Your contribution, especially in the era that we find 
ourselves, remains one of the most valuable pillars that 
GDE has.  

I remain appreciative of the support that Sci-Bono 
avails to Schools of Specialisation (SoS) in enhancing 
the teaching of mathematics and science through the 
Emasondosondo Mobile Science Project. Your work in 
presenting Coding and Robotics within our SoS helps 
us to reconfigure the education landscape and mindset 
of our learners – especially in preparing them for the  
Fourth Industrial Revolution (4IR) and equipping them 
with the necessary skills needed to thrive in this 
technologically-driven world. I look forward to your 
involvement as we roll out more SoS in the Province, 
much in the same way as you were, with the launch of the 
two Nuclear Energy focused schools in Atteridgeville, 
the school of Engineering in Rhodesfield and the School 
of Maritime in Sharpeville.

Your valued support in the implementation of the 
Secondary Schools Improvement Project (SSIP) 
remains one of the cardinal pillars on which Gauteng 

Mr Andrek (Panyaza) Lesufi (MPL)
MEC for Education
Gauteng Department of Education (GDE)
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Chairperson’s 
Report

On behalf of the Board of Directors, 
I herewith present the Chairperson’s 
Report as being a true reflection of 
the accomplishments achieved by the 
Sci-Bono Discovery Centre during the 
2018/2019 reporting period.

Founded in 2004, the Sci-Bono 
Discovery Centre is a world-class 
institution, principally recognised 
for delivering quality education, 
science and technology innovation, 
training and skills development 
programmes to learners, teachers 
and other stakeholders in the MST 
and ICT Education ecosystem. Over 
the past fifteen years, Sci-Bono 
has grown rapidly in both scale and 
reach of its various service offerings 
and programmes and can attest to 
a number of successful endeavours 
and accomplishments.  

The vision and mission of Sci-Bono 
resonates with the strategic outlook 
and priorities espoused in the 2030 
National Development Plan (NDP), 
wherein education, training and 
innovation remain central to South 
Africa‘s long-term development. 
The NDP further recognises that 
while these elements may not 
be a panacea to all of society’s 
challenges, they greatly enhance 
society‘s ability to solve problems and 
develop competitive innovations that 
ultimately help eliminate poverty and 
reduce inequality in our society.
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I wish to extend our sincere appreciation to the MEC 
for Education, Mr. Panyaza Lesufi, for his visionary 
leadership and unsurpassed success in effecting 
education reforms – as well as his continued support 
of the Sci-Bono Discovery Centre for the period under 
review. 

May I extend my sincere appreciation to you all for 
cultivating Sci-Bono, nurturing it to become an institute 
of unparalleled success, well able to produce the best 
services at all time in order to meet the changing needs 
of learners, teachers and other stakeholders in the MST 
and ICT Education ecosystem.

As Sci-Bono, we are captivated by scientific inventions 
and its uses in the enhancement and acceleration of 
South Africa’s scientific and academic community. 
For the forthcoming financial year, we will aspire to 
significantly contribute towards the revitalisation of 
science and mathematics – such that the number of 
people embarking on careers in science and technology 
should at least be three times that of current levels; 
a vision espoused in both the NDP and GDE in their 
strategic roadmap.

In so doing, the Sci-Bono institution will continue to 
build a base and solid foundation of science, technology, 
innovation and skilled human resources in Southern 
Africa. 

I wish to thank you all for the invaluable and most 
distinguished contribution throughout.

Mr Abbey Witbooi 

In an endeavour to find alignment to the 2030 NDP’s 
strategic goals, the Board of Directors supports the 
assertion that schools are the building blocks for 
continued learning and laying a solid foundation for a 
long and healthy life, higher education and scientific 
achievements. The Board further embraces the NDP’s 
vision of a society committed to building a strong 
and coherent set of institutions for delivering quality 
education, science and technology innovation, training 
and skills development. 

In the light of the above, the Board is dedicated to 
building a world-class Sci-Bono Discovery Centre with 
a customised service offering, including intervention 
programmes, which contribute to creating an educational 
and national science system for the developmental needs 
of our society. 

In the pursuit of quality and equal education for all,  
Sci-Bono’s vision and programmes are progressively 
aligned to the shared 2019-2024 Education Roadmap as 
outlined by the GDE. This alignment demonstrates that 
Sci-Bono has indeed risen to its highest performance 
potential and capability to continuously re-evaluate its 
service offering to the changing needs of the learners, 
teachers and other critical stakeholders in the ICT 
education sector.

The Sci-Bono ICT Academy received recognition 
for its excellence during the African Networking 
Academy Safari 2019. This is in recognition of excellent 
achievement, professional development and sharing of 
academy curriculum and technical updates.  

In a quest to ensure that learners are well prepared 
for the digital transformation which ensures their 
full participation in the 4IR, the Sci-Bono Clubhouse 
offers training programmes in coding, robotics, 
advanced networking, web development and several 
others programmes aimed at exposing the youth to the 
possibilities of the 4th Industrial Revolution.

For the 2018/2019 financial year, I wish to point out the 
success of our extended teacher training programmes, 
covering the subject knowledge, pedagogy and 
assessment as quite remarkable. The value of the SSIP 
has been acknowledged as one of the key contributors 
for the continued improvement of the Grade 12 learner 
performance in Gauteng.

Mr Abbey Witbooi - Board Chairperson
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Sci-Bono has done it again. Its performance in 2018/19 
has been relatively good compared to 2017/18. 

I am once more proud to report that the number of 
participants in Sci-Bono activities jumped from 600 
084 in 2017/18 to 602 462 in 2018/19, 2 378 or 0.4%. 
These numbers cut across the more than 30 major 
activities enacted in the Exhibitory, Science Centre, 
Careers Centre, Learner Support, Teacher Support 
and Youth Support Departments. Comparatively, the 
biggest number of participants were in Learner Support, 
followed by the Science Centre, Careers Centre, Teacher 
Development and ICT. 

Dr More Chakane - Chief Executive Officer

Exhibitory Science Centre Careers Centre Learner Support Teachers Development ICT
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In 2018/19, 6 new exhibitions were added compared to only 4 in 
2017/18, one international moving and 5 permanent. For the first 
time in Africa, Sci-Bono hosted Lascaux International Exhibition for 
9 months. Internationally accredited Climbing Wall has been added 
to more than 300 science exhibitions. Ground Chess, Morabaraba 
and Draft have also been built outside for the free enjoyment and 
learning of the public.

The Science Centre continues to be the fundamental pillar and 
attraction in Sci-Bono. It was the star performer in 2018/19. Overall, 
194 598 people participated in the Science Centre programmes, 
an increase of 152 623 or 363% compared to 41 975 in 2017/18. 
56 164 people conducted experiments in 2018/19, an increase 
of 30 338 or 117% compared to 25 826 in 2017/18. 53 669 people 
participated in science shows, also an increase of 11 710 or 28% 
compared to 25 826 in 2017/18. 2 127 people were touched through 
a community-outreach programme, also an increase of 2 113 or 15 

092% compared to only 14 in 2017/18. In 2018/19 there was also a 
monitoring of interaction with exhibitions (70 794 people), a holiday 
programme (11 837); expos (7); and an apprentice doctor (44).

Unlike in 2017/18 where Science Career Centre performed very 
well, the performance in 2018/19 went down. In 2018/19, the 
Science Career Centre touched 33 009 people, a drop of 7 825 or 
19% compared to 40 834 in 2017/18. There were 5 291 people that 
participated in the Face-to-Face Walk-In sessions, an increase of 4 
436 or 517% compared to 858 in 2017/18; 22 877 in Presentations, a 
decrease of 9 719 or 29% compared to 32 596 in 2017/18; 864 in Girl 
Child Programme, a decrease of 1 001 or 54% compared to 1 856 
in 2017/18; 164 in Parental programme, a decrease of 155 or 49% 
compared to 319 in 2017/18; 213 in Therapy, an increase of 20 or 
9% compared to 193; 2 197 in Community Outreach, a decrease of 
2 124 or 49% compared to 4 321, and 1 564 in Out-of-School Youth 
Programme; an increase of 882 or 129% compared to 682.
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Sci-Bono also supports Mathematics, 
Science and Technology teachers. In 
2018/19 we trained 18 977 teachers 
compared to 19 354 in 2017/18. This 
is a decrease of 377 or 2%. The 
decrease was still due to further 
budget cut. Of the 18 977 teachers 
trained, 4607 were Foundation Phase, 
2547 Intermediate, 6773 Senior, and 
5050 Further Education Training 
(FET) Phase. This is a drop of 65% 
Foundation Phase, and increases 
of 72% Intermediate Phase, 47% 
Senior Phase, and 84% FET Phase 
respectively.
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Sci-Bono provides a number of training programmes in 
ICT. These includes Network Security, Web Development, 
Graphic Design, Animation, Video Production, Coding, 
Robotics, and 3D printing. In 2018/19, 5 664 compared to 
6 555 in 2017/18 participated in several ICT programmes, 
a decrease of 891 or 14%. In end-user computing, 560 
teachers graduated, compared to 1 440 in 2017/18; 246 
people were trained in coding compared to 5 550 in 
2017/18; 610 unemployed youth were trained in number of 
ICT programmes; 250 employees of Social Development 
Department were trained in Microsoft word and Excel;  
2 608 people visited Solar Computer Laboratories placed 
in 6 Township locations; and 689 children participated in 
the Clubhouse activities, amongst other programmes.

Non-core business continued to play a critical support 
role to the achievements in core-business. The number 
of permanent and fixed-term employees increased by 12 
(7%) from 187 to 199; our AVE decreased by a smaller 
amount of R897 185.28 compared to 2017/18 from  
R3 256 230.28 in 2017/18 to R2 359 045.00 in 2018/19. 
Our retained income increased by 4% from R258 million 
to R268 million, operating surplus decreased by R40 
million from R35 million to a deficit of R5 million, and we 
closed the year with a surplus of R8 million compared to 
R35 million in 2016/17. Even though the project activities 
expenses decreased, the overall decrease was due to 
decrease in grants income for projects in 2018/19.
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Dr More Chakane

I take this opportunity to thank the MEC for Education, Mr 
Andrek Panyaza Lesufi (MPL); The Head of Department 
of GDE Mr Edward Mosuwe; GDE Top Management, 
Extended Management and Broad Management Team for 
their continued support and cooperation with Sci-Bono. 

I also thank the Chairperson of Sci-Bono Board Mr 
Abbey Witbooi and Sci-Bono Non-Executive Directors 
for providing me and the management team with the 
necessary support and guidance. 

Thanks to my colleagues in the Top Management Team, 
Senior Management Team and MANCO. And thanks to all 
Sci-Bono employees for the hard work and dedication to 
educate the public about science. 

And last but not least, thanks to our private and public 
partners for believing in the work of Sci-Bono and in its 
vision. The ultimate goal of Sci-Bono is to improve the 
quality of life of all South Africans through acquisition 
and use of science knowledge, skills and attitudes.  

I thank you
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VISION STATEMENT

To be a world-class Science Centre capacitated to assist 
in instilling a culture of science and technology, acquiring 
science knowledge, skills and attitudes; applying this 
acquired science knowledge, skills and attitudes to 
develop and innovate new products and services that 
uplift the quality of life of all South Africans; and using 
the innovated products and services to compete in the 
global world of science.

MISSION STATEMENT

It is the mission of Sci-Bono, therefore, to assist people 
in South Africa by instilling a culture of science and 
technology by providing a unique platform to explore and 
understand the world of science; acquisition of science 
knowledge, skills and attitudes; application of science 
knowledge, skills and attitudes to develop and innovate 
new products and services that uplift the quality of life of 
all South Africans; and using the innovated products and 
services to compete in the global world of science.

CORE VALUES

ACETIII
1. Accountability – We stand willing to take 

responsibility for its actions.
2. Customer Centric - Sci-Bono places special focus 

on creating a positive experience for its customers 
to ensure customer loyalty and value for money.

3. Ethical – We promote the application of moral 
standards in the course of official work.

4. Transparency – We are committed to openness, 
accountability, and honesty to build efficiency and 
gain stakeholder trust.

5. Integrity – We are committed to following our moral 
or ethical convictions and doing the right thing in all 
circumstances.

6. Innovation – Sci-Bono values the introduction of 
new technologies that are designed to improve the 
livelihoods of all South Africans.

7. Intellectual Diversity – Our organisation is built on a 
foundation of a learning environment that embraces 
diverse intellectual thinking and exposes learners to 
a variety of perspectives.

STRATEGIC GOALS

Sci-Bono works towards achieving its vision and 
mission through the following goals:

• Build a competent society in the world of science.
• Develop and strengthen strong internal systems 

and controls.
• Improve and strengthen financial viability and 

sustainability.
• Build strong research and development (R&D) 

capacity.
• Improve organisational sustainability.

To achieve these goals, Sci-Bono initiates, develops, 
implements and evaluate a wide range of programmes 
that have strategic objectives linked to the goals, 
core activities, and intended results with targets and 
indicators for core and non-core functions of the 
organisation.
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Sci-Bono Discovery Centre displays and brings to life 
the natural world of science through its core business 
department categorised as:

• Science Education Centre
• Science Career Centre
• Exhibitry 
• School Support  
• Project Management Office (PMO). 

CORE BUSINESS: OPERATIONS EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

FIGURE 8: A chart displaying 2018/19 Science Centre visits
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MATHEMATICS, SCIENCE AND 
TECHNOLOGY (MST) SHOWS

MST Shows are interactive demonstrations aimed at 
engaging learners from Grades 1 – 12 and public visitors 
in topics of Mathematics, Science, and Technology. 
Our MST Shows are uniquely designed to enhance 
participants’ understanding of MST concepts through 
entertaining and informative performances. The  
Science Show is a standard offering to most visiting 
schools.

In 2018/2019, the Science Centre conducted a series of 
science shows to 39 470 people. 

HOLIDAY PROGRAMMES

Sci-Bono implemented a host of exciting activities during 
each of the school holidays in 2018/2019. The following 
holiday programmes were presented to children, youth, 
parents, pensioners and tourists:

CAVE ART HOLIDAY PROGRAMME
The programme promoted the understanding of the 
relationship between caves, art and science. It covered, 
amongst others, activities such as Exciting Excavation, 
Cave Chemistry Art, Volca Cave, Stalactites, Fossil 
Building, Rock Cycling, Rock Scientist and Light Bulb 
Moment. The programme was rated as most informative 
in class and was widely attended by members of the 
public. It reached a total of 3 820 participants.

Sci-Bono continues to lead in playing its role as a 
destination for interactive Science Education and a 
much-loved school excursion. It is strategically located 
in New Town, Johannesburg, close to several well-known 
tourist attractions such as the Mary Fitzgerald Square, 
Market Theatre, Afronova Art Gallery and Workers 
Museum. The Science Centre continues to show an 
overall performance against its annual target. In total, 
the centre exceeded its yearly target by 10.7%. 

The centre showcases and brings to life the natural 
world of science through its broad three programmes 
categorised as:

• Science Awareness Programmes
• Science Education Programmes
• Science Communication Programmes

SCIENCE AWARENESS 
PROGRAMMES 

Science awareness programmes are mass participation 
programmes, which aim to create general awareness 
about broad scientific areas. The focus is on essential 
knowledge transfer to audiences who may have 
never been exposed to science before, and therefore, 
entertainment is vital.

CENTRE VISITS 

Sci-Bono boasts a collection of over 350 interactive 
exhibitions that interpret complex science to visitors in a 
simplified, fun and exciting manner. In 2018/2019, a total 
of 80 081 participants visited the Science Centre. (See 
Figure 9.)

SCIENCE EDUCATION CENTRE

FIGURE 9: A chart displaying 2018/19 Science Centre 
visits
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THE SPACE INVADERS HOLIDAY PROGRAMME 
This event featured hands-on activities, a treasure hunt 
and science shows. A total of 967 people took part in this 
programme. Participants included children, adults and 
pensioners.

THE GADGET FACTORY HOLIDAY PROGRAMME 
This programme presented fifteen hands-on science 
workshops, a daily science show, an ice cream making 
show and two daily floor activities. The programme 
attracted 2 951 visitors.

FOCUS WEEKS

Annual focus weeks have become Sci-Bono’s premier 
programmes to inspire and educate teachers and 
learners about the critical role that MST plays in our 
daily lives. These focus weeks include a combination 
of innovative exhibitions, presentations as well as 
interactive workshops. During the 2018/2019-year,  

Sci-Bono hosted 7 271 learners and educators during the 
following focus weeks:
 
• Early Childhood Development (ECD)
• National Water Week
• National Science Week
• Transport Week

UNITED NATIONS INTERNATIONAL 
DAYS

Sci-Bono participates in many international days each 
year, including World Water Day, International Day of 
Women and Girls in Science, World Environment Day, 
International Literacy Day, World Food Day, World 
Science Day and World Disability Day. A total of 3 678 
people participated in the International Days’ programme 
during 2018/2019.

BIRTHDAY PARTIES

Sci-Bono’s birthday party facility continues to be one of 
Gauteng’s most popular science-themed birthday party 
venues. The programme is fully booked for months in 
advance. Sci-Bono hosted 157 birthday parties from 
March 2018 to February 2019.

SCIENCE EDUCATION 
PROGRAMMES

The Sci-Bono science education programmes assist in 
enhancing the quality of teaching and learning of MST 
through applications and activities that support proper 
content delivery.

LABORATORIES

Sci-Bono has three laboratories for Physics, Chemistry, 
and Life Sciences. The three laboratories continue to 
play a critical role in helping school learners (especially 
from previously disadvantaged backgrounds) conduct 
their experiments for school-based assessments. The 
laboratories also assist teachers to pilot-test trials and 
engage members of the public who want to understand 
science better. In 2018/2019, a total of 18 294 learners 
used the Physics, Chemistry, and Life Sciences 
laboratories.

APPRENTICE DOCTOR

The programme was introduced in 2010; it targets Grade 
10 to Grade 12 learners and aims to expose them to 
real-life experiences of the use of medical instruments, 
techniques and procedures. Sci-Bono hosted a Pre-
Medical Camp in April during which learners spent 
their time interacting with different specialists in the 
medical field and performing hands-on practical work. 
During 2018/2019, forty-four learners participated in the 
programme.



ELECTRONICS CLUB

A series of enjoyable, interactive and informal club 
sessions, which aim to improve Grade 10 and Grade 11 
learners’ technical electronics skills. The sessions took 
place on Thursday afternoons at 14:30 at the Sci-Bono 
Discovery Centre and involved learners assembling 
and testing various electronic circuits. In 2018/2019, 15 
participated in the programme.

ROCKETRY COURSE

Sci-Bono hosted the rocketry courses during the school 
holiday periods of 2018 with funding support from 
Denel Dynamics. The sessions involved teaching the 
fundamentals of rocketry and applied mathematics, 
science and technology to Grade 11 students while 
designing, constructing and launching a rocket within 
their respective teams. A total of twenty-two learners 
participated in the courses. Learners were selected from 
various schools in Gauteng and mentored by trainers 
from AeroSpace Research, who facilitated the sessions.

SCIENCE COMPETITIONS

Sci-Bono organises competitions and quizzes which 
make these competitions covering fun and stimulating 
MST fields. During 2018/2019 Sci-Bono coordinated the 
following competitions and quizzes:

MENTAL MATHS
Started in 2011, Mental Mathematics Challenge is an 
exciting competition for Grade 3 learners. The challenge 
is divided into four levels, namely: school level, cluster 
level, district level and provincial level. A total of 2 387 
learners from all of Gauteng’s 15 education districts 
participated in the cluster level. The provincial level took 
place on Wednesday 24 October 2018, and the award 
ceremony occurred on Saturday 10 November 2018.

FLL ROBOTICS
This annual international robotics competition 
introduces learners (9 to 16 years old) to the world of 
robotics and teaches them valuable life skills. Guided by 
their educators, teams research real-world problems 
such as food safety, recycling and energy to develop 
new solutions. A total of 344 participants made up of 
300 learners, 26 teachers/coaches, and 18 registered 
visitors took part in the FLL competition in 2018/2019. 
This year, additional fifteen teams took part in the 
completion, making the total number of team 50% more 
than the initially targeted number.

SCIENCE COMMUNICATION 
PROGRAMMES

Public presentations on science-related topics offer an 
opportunity for scientists and the public to engage in 
conversations around science. It empowers the public to 
have informed opinions on such issues.

SPEAK TO A SCIENTIST (S2AS)

The Science Centre hosts a series of public talks on 
the last Thursday evening of each month. Scientists 
are invited to engage the public on current topical 
scientific issues and news-making phenomena. 
549 Learners took part in this programme.  
One of the talks was conducted by an international 
Professor from Max Plank Institute in Germany.  
Learners received a presentation that included 
discussions around climate change and atmospheric 
chemistry.
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SPECIAL PROGRAMMES

COMMUNITY OUTREACH

As part of its vision to help society understand the 
relevance of science, Sci-Bono coordinates various 
community outreach activities throughout the year.  
Sci-Bono presented a range of science shows, 
experiments and interactive exhibits to twelve public 
institutions and organisations during the past financial 
year. These included:

EXHIBITION AT ROSEBANK MALL
Rosebank Mall offered Sci-Bono Discovery Centre free 
exhibition space where the Sci-Bono team of science 
communicators showcased six fun and thought-
provoking exhibits at the mall. 120 People visited  
Sci-Bono’s stand and interacted with the exhibits. 

VISIT TO A CENTRE IN TEMBISA
Sci-Bono was invited by South African Agency for Science 
and Technology Advancement (SAASTA) and the Science 
Centre in Tembisa, to showcase its mobile exhibits and 
present MST shows to the public. This happened during 
Women’s Month. Other outreach programme activities 
were conducted in Alexandra at Pan African Mall, among 
others. A total of 598 children and adults participated in the 
outreach programme.

LECTURE BY DR NHAMO

Keeping in line with the Lascaux exhibition theme,  
Sci-Bono Discovery Centre hosted Dr Ancilla Nhamo from 
1 to 3 August 2018. Dr Nhamo is an author and a lecturer of 
Archeology at the University of Zimbabwe. Grade 10 and 11 
learners from various schools in Gauteng were invited to 
attend her lectures in a three-day programme. The purpose 
of the programme was to expose and educate learners 
about archaeology with the intention of encouraging them 
to choose archaeology as a career. 740 Learners attended 
the programme.

THE CLIMBING WALL EXHIBIT 

The Climbing Wall Exhibit is an in-house climbing facility 
developed at Sci-Bono, for people as young as five years 
old and adults to climb for fun, as part of leisure, recreation 
and keeping their body healthy. It was officially launched  
on Friday the 22nd February 2019. A number of  
stakeholders, including the media, were invited.  Since 
the official launch of the climbing wall, a variety of 
stakeholders, including children who attend birthday 
parties in the centre, have been enjoying climbing a variety 
of routes that lead up the wall. So far, a total of twenty-nine 
fascinated climbers have made use of the climbing wall. 
More climbers are expected for the Easter school holiday 
period.

These initiatives reached more than 889 members of the 
general public including disabled and disadvantaged 
learners, youth and adults.



EXHIBITORY
The Sci-Bono Discovery Centre has over 350 interactive 
exhibits that form the core of a typical science centre. Six 
highly-skilled, full-time staff members are responsible 
for the interactive collection. The aim is to ensure that 
the collection is fun, safe, and well managed. Duties 
include building and buying new exhibits as well as 
hosting interactive traveling exhibitions.

One of the highlights of the reporting period was hosting 
the Lascaux International Exhibition – the world’s oldest 
Rock Art and Travelling Exhibition. This was a first for the 
African continent and South Africa. To complement the 
Lascaux Exhibition, the Wits Origins Centre hosted an 
exhibition called Dawn of Art. The exhibition showcases 
the world oldest art – including fragments of a 200 000 
year-old ostrich egg. 

During this reporting period, Sci-Bono launched a new 
installation to add to its vast collection of exhibits – a  
7,6 m climbing wall, which caters for learners from 
primary schools to adults. The new feature aims to serve 
as additional source of income for the centre.  In addition 
to the climbing wall, three outdoor exhibits, namely an 
outdoor chess set, draughts and Morabaraba were also 
introduced.

Sci-Bono also plays a significant role in the entire science 
landscape of South Africa. Annual, Sci-Bono hosts an 
exhibit-building workshop at the SAASTEC Conference, 
which encourages participants to engage in a hands-on 
exhibit-building session. During this reporting period, 
Sci-Bono presented an exhibit that demonstrates how 
to build a chaotic pendulum. Fifteen participants from 
various Science Centres were exposed to some basic 
principles of exhibit building. At completion, each 
participant took away a  chaotic pendulum designed by 
them which can be used in their Science Centres. 
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Without laboratories men 
of science are soldiers 
without arms.
Louis Pasteur
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SCIENCE CAREERS CENTRE 
The Science Careers Centre delivers a comprehensive 
range of professional career development services 
as well as career education, information and advisory 
programmes. The programmes are designed to enable 
learners and out-of-school youth to make the transition 
from school to further education and work, providing 
further training opportunities. 

The centre focuses primarily on Science and Technology 
careers in order to align to the vision of Sci-Bono and 
constributes to the uptake of Mathematics and Science 
within the schooling community. 

The centre offers two main programmes:

1. Science Careers Education, Information and 
Advisory Services

2. Career Development Support and Counselling 
Services 

Altogether, the Science Careers Centre delivered thirty-
nine activities during this financial year and reached  
27 887 beneficiaries.

SCIENCE CAREERS EDUCATION, 
INFORMATION AND ADVISORY 
SERVICES PROGRAMMES

The activities involved in this programme include the 
development and collection of career information to 
support walk-in clients including face-to-face guidance 
sessions. This programme also delivers workshops and 
presentations to Grade 7 to 12 learners, out of school 
youth as well as participation at career expos. 

The centre offers special programmes such as the Grade 
7 Science Fairs,  Future of Work series as well as learner 
campus and industry tours to manufacturing sites. It 
also hosts an annual programme for girls which is often 
supported by women professionals, researchers and 
academics from science and engineering disciplines. All 
the group activities under this programme take place 
on-site as well as outside Sci-Bono in various schools 
and communities. The following activities are offered in 
the Career Education, Information & Advisory Services 
Programme:

SCIENCE CAREER INFORMATION 
WALK-IN CLIENTS

The Career Centre has a client information walk-in 
resource centre which houses a collection of career 
information and other study resources. It is used by 
learners, out-of-school youth, and the general public 
to search for employment, training, study and bursary 
opportunities. 

This space is also used for study purposes by learners 
from local schools who are on the re-write programme 
to improve their Grade 12 results. The users of the 
space are learners and youth from surrounding housing 
projects. The facility is stocked with a pool of computers 
with internet connectivity. This year, the walk-in centre 
attracted the largest footfall in its history, exceeding the 
2 500 mark reported over the years.

In this financial year, 3 823 walk-in clients used the 
resource centre for study and career research purposes. 

FIGURE 10: Number of Clients Receiving Individual 
Career Guidance 

FIGURE 11: Number of Learners Participating in 
Science Career Presentations & Workshops Series
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FACE-TO-FACE CAREER GUIDANCE 
SESSIONS

The Resource Centre is staffed by trained Career 
Education Facilitators and Career Counsellors with 
approximately thirty years of combined experience who 
mediate career information as well provide face-to-face 
career guidance. Eight hundred and ninety-five (895) 
clients benefitted from face-to-face career guidance 
sessions facilitated by career education facilitators and 
career counsellors. (See Figure 10.)

SCIENCE CAREERS PRESENTATIONS 
AND WORKSHOPS SERIES

In this programme, a series of presentations and 
workshops are delivered to large groups, providing 
career information and life skills learning to pupils in 
Grades 7 to 12. The topics in the series are aligned to 
the Curriculum Assessment Policy Statement (CAPS) 

curriculum and focus on the importance of work, 
careers and subject choices, the world of work and study, 
admission requirements, funding for study programmes 
as well as employment trends. Most activities take place 
at Sci-Bono or in communities and churches.

In this financial year, 12 701 learners (Grades 7 to 12) 
participated in the series. (See Figure 11.)

STEM CAREER AWARENESS & 
ADVOCACY SESSIONS

This programme consists of a series of presentations to 
learners who take Mathematics and Science only. It is a 
deliberate effort by the Career Centre to build awareness 
around STEM careers. The series is presented in 
collaboration with the Festo, Dow and Life Sciences 
Laboratories within Sci-Bono which specifically targets 
Grades 9 to 12 learners. In this financial year, a total of 
484 learners participated in the series. 

SPECIAL PROGRAMMES: IN-HOUSE 
ACTIVITIES

These programmes are seasonal and take place 
throughout the year to celebrate or observe some 
of the national days in the calendar. They take place 
within Sci-Bono and are generally supported by various 
entities, academics, researchers and industry experts in 
business and commerce.

The following special programmes were delivered in the 
current financial year:

ANNUAL GIRL LEARNER PROGRAMME

The Career Centre hosted two Annual Girl Programmes. 
The first, in collaboration with the Gauteng Premier’s 
office as part of the annual Cell C Take-a-Girl-Child-
To-Work programme, was supported by the host – the 
Gauteng MEC for Social Development. The other girl 
programme took place on Women’s Day to celebrate the 
tenacity and accomplishments of women – especially 
in STEM. The focus of the STEM girls programme is to 
nurture and grow talent pipelines in these fields. The 
programme attracted academics from science research 
councils. Altogether, 1 016 girl learners attended the 
programmes. 

GRADE 7 SCIENCE FAIR

The Grade 7 Fair took place on the annual National 
Careers Dress-Up Day and was interspersed with 
science activities which aligns the fair to the vision of 
Sci-Bono. Programme activities included STEM careers 
presentations, audio-visual simulations of real-work 
science environments. In addition, it covered careers 
involved in the whole value chain, science shows and a 
showcase of learners’ science wear, which included lab 
coats, telescopes, stethoscopes, and nurses’ uniforms.



Learners were required to wear apparel traditionally 
worn in their specific career of choice. Next, they 
presented their career aspirations to their classmates, 
unpacking why they chose a particular career as well as 
the requirements, personality types and interests which 
typically suit the career. They also had to provide input on 
how they thought their careers would contribute to the 
economy and society. A total of 760 learners participated 
in the fairs.

THE FUTURE OF WORK SUMMIT
The Career Centre, in collaboration with the Umlambo 
Foundation, a non-profit organisation, hosted the above 
programme which consisted of an impressive line-
up of speakers, including the Vice Chancellor of the 
University of Johannesburg and a keynote address by  
the Minister of Science and Technology. The audience  
was diverse and included members of the public, 
educators, university graduates and learners in Grades 
9 to 12. The aim of the summit was to introduce, excite 
and create awareness among the schooling community – 
about the future of work in the era of Industry 4.0 and how 
the advent of artificial intelligence (AI) might impact on 
work patterns, subject choices as well as on the growth 
and decline of careers in general. It also emphasised 
the importance of Science and Mathematics as gateway 
subjects to successful careers of the future. The summit 
was attended by 449 delegates.

GATEWAY TO THE FUTURE
This programme was introduced in the current financial 
year and was hosted jointly by the Career Centre and 
the Telkom Foundation. It targets learners in Grade 9 
and showcases the range of career possibilities within 
the ICT industry as well as the centrality of Mathematics 
and Science as gateway subjects – especially subject 
choices leading into Grade 10. The programme content 
contained a blend of customised career presentations, 
science shows and science centre tours. It also 
included interactive, hands-on activities such as coding, 

mechatronics, The Internet of Things – Connecting 
Things, and ICT in the Arts: 3D Design, among others. 
During this financial year, altogether 3 598 learners 
attended these special programmes. (See Figure 12.) 

SPECIAL EVENTS: OFF-SITE

These are special programmes and events that take 
place outside Sci-Bono in industry sites, universities as 
well as in communities and churches. 

THE LEARNER INDUSTRY AND 
CAMPUS TOUR INITIATIVE

This programme started two years ago and is now 
running for the second year since 2018. Learners visited 
sites in the automotive, aviation, steel and manufacturing 
industry, exposing them to the inner workings of these 
industries, the future career prospects as well as the 
processes and technologies involved.

Learners received the opportunity to interact with role 
models who work in these environments and who shared 

their life stories, work experiences and knowledge about 
their work. 

Majority of the learners were selected from technical 
high schools. The intention was to introduce and prime 
them to embrace the various trades and vocations 
as careers of choice. The programme is intended to 
contribute to the uptake of artisans and tradesmen skills 
which the economy so desperately needs. A total of 496 
learners participated in the industry site excursions.

Another group of Grade 11 learners took part in a campus 
tour of Wits University to get a feel of the campus and 
residence life. They visited various faculties and schools 
where they were exposed to various laboratories, 
information on admission requirements as well as 
various aspects of cultural and extracurricular student 
activities. The learners were enthused because most 
of them had never experienced the inner workings of a 
university. 488 Learners attended the campus tours.

EXPOS AND COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT

The Career Centre participates in career expos hosted 
by churches, Non-Government Organisations (NGOs) 
and other school-based exhibitions to give presentations 
to mixed audiences that consists of learners in different 
grades, out-of-school youth and parents. 

Apart from stall exhibitions, the Career Centre also 
delivers parallel career-related presentations to school 
groups. The centre also provides guidance to parents 
on how to support their children on career choices – 
especially in science. The team gives presentations to out-
of-school youth on skills-based training opportunities 
and referrals to other service centres providing life 
skills and employment possibilities. 1 633 Individuals 
were reached through these career expos.

Altogether, 2 617 learners participated in the above 
programmes. (See Figure 13 for a summary of activities 
and milestones achieved.)

FIGURE 12: Special Programmes and Events - Learner 
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administered in groups. (See figure 15 for milestones 
achieved.)

The demand for career assessment services continues 
to grow. An Electronic Assessment Centre (EAC) was 
established in late 2018 to meet the growing needs for the 
service. The EAC will enable the programme to increase 
the number of learners that can be assessed, improve 
the turnaround time of assessment results, and extend 
assessment services to include selection, employee 
training and development for private companies, NGO’s 
and the public service.

CAREER DEVELOPMENT SUPPORT 
AND COUNSELLING SERVICES 
PROGRAMME

This programme offers a full spectrum of career 
development and psychological support services. 
It is staffed by Health Professions Council of South 
Africa (HPCSA), registered professional psychologists, 
counsellors, and psychometrists (including Educational 
Psychology and Psychometrics interns). 

The activities in this programme include various forms 
of psychometric assessments, which range from careers 
and psycho-educational assessments to learning 
barriers, selection assessments into positions, and 
development opportunities for clients who request the 
service. It also includes therapeutic services, counselling 
services, and other group-based activities for learners in 
Grades 9 to12.

The event hosts an annual internship programme in 
Psychometrics and Educational Psychology for Honors 
and Masters students respectively. Three Psychometrics 

interns passed the national exams set by the Board of 
Psychology and are now eligible for registration with the 
HPCSA.

The programme conducted the following activities, 
which are delivered on-site as well as outside Sci-Bono 
in schools and communities:

INDIVIDUAL CAREER ASSESSMENTS

This category of assessments services individual 
and small groups of up to twelve clients which are 
administered on-site. Clients are required to provide 
feedback on their test performance. Feedback helps 
clients assimilate their test results in order to facilitate 
their career development and planning. 120 clients drew 
benefit from these assessments; excluding the number 
of feedback sessions.

GROUP CAREER ASSESSMENTS

These assessments are conducted off-site and mostly in 
schools. The groups may range from a hundred or more 
learners at a time. Standardised psychometric batteries 
are used, but shorter versions may also be applied – 
all depending on the information obtained from the  
advocacy sessions preceding the assessments. Feedback 
is shared in groups and not individually. Therefore, the 
reach is wider than in individual assessments. (See 
figure 14.) 

SCHOLASTIC AND ORGANISATIONAL 
ASSESSMENTS 

Psycho-educational assessment interventions are 
offered on referral from GDE and by parents whose 
children have difficulty with learning and other conduct 
disorders – as well as for the assessment of Grade R 
learners to determine their readiness for schooling. 
These are all individual assessments and may not be 
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FIGURE 13: Special Programmes: Off-Site - Learner 
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LIFE SKILLS WORKSHOP SERIES

The workshop series is offered to learners in the Senior and FET Phases and is aligned 
to the Life Orientation Curriculum and Assessment Policy Statement (CAPS). The series 
also facilitates youth dialogues in low-income communities, encouraging them to become 
catalysts of change in their own communities, individual and group counselling with youth, 
life skills workshops for youth, building capacity for volunteers placed in community service 
centres, and parenting-skills workshops for young mothers.

Group Counselling Sessions Individual Therapy Sessions

FIGURE 16: Number of Clients who Received Therapy 
and Counselling 
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THERAPY AND COUNSELLING

Individual counselling and therapy clients are garnered 
through word-of-mouth referrals as well as from career 
guidance clients who have gone through level-one career 
centre programmes and services. These are intended to 
facilitate personal development, contain clients in crisis 
and supports client emotional wellbeing. The service is 
demand driven and is limited to six sessions per client. 

The service has been extended to Curtis Nkondo School 
of Specialisation and a locum counsellor spends every 
Tuesday during term to offer these services to learners 
and the teaching staff. The counsellor also presents 
life and academic skills at the school, while conducting 
career assessments – specifically for Grades 9 and 12 
in order to facilitate their subject and career choices 
respectively.

A summary of the number of clients who received therapy 
and counselling is shown in Figure 16.
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SCHOOL SUPPORT UNIT

SECONDARY SCHOOL IMPROVEMENT 
PROGRAMME (SSIP)

Much of our activity during this financial year focused 
on offering supplementary tuition to learners in priority 
schools. Sci-Bono continued to manage the GDE’s SSIP.
 
The SSIP – a GDE supplementary tuition programme 
supported 66 068 Grade 12 learners in 447 schools 
in 2018. The programme was activated at 188 sites 
throughout the province. Tuition took place on Saturdays 
and during school holidays with support being offered 
in ten gateway subjects. Support was also provided in 
Technical Mathematics and Technical Physical Science 
subjects. 
 
The programme was presented at residential and 
walk-in camps during the school holidays. A total of 
27 834 learners attended the residential camps. The 
programme has become a standard component of 
schooling in priority schools and is credited as a major 
contributing factor to the improvement of the provincial 
pass rate.

ABAHOLI SATURDAY SCHOOL 

The objective of the programme is to deliver an expertly-
designed curriculum to talented Grade 10, 11 and 12 
learners in order to develop higher-order thinking and 
problem-solving skills, by making use of innovative 
and effective teaching and learning strategies. These 
learners come from disadvantaged backgrounds 
surrounding Johannesburg. They are selected based 
on their potential to excel in Mathematics and Physical 
Science. Learners are selected based on the marks they 

obtain in an entrance examination that is written at the 
end of Grade 9. The selected learners participate in the 
programme for a period of three years.

The programme aims to prepare the participating 
learners for success in higher education and in the 
technical world of work. All Abaholi Grade 12 learners 
passed the 2018 final examinations with 85% of learners 
obtaining university entrance passes. 

EMASONDOSONDO MOBILE SCIENCE 
PROJECT 

Emasondosondo is the isiZulu word for ‘wheels’. The 
project aims to put learners on the road to success by 
providing support in Physical Science and Mathematics 
to learners in Grades 10 to 12 in 9 SoS and four MEC 
Schools. A team of specialised teachers visits schools 
throughout the year and assists with presenting 
Mathematics and Science.

Tuitions at the SoS take place during the school term for 
a period of three weeks. The outreach team prepares 
and presents the content that teachers find difficult to 
teach in schools.

The team also performs Physical Science experiments 
that assist with school-based assessments at the 
schools.

Intervention at MEC schools occur in the revision of 
Grade 10 and 11 leaners’ Mathematics and Physical 
Science work. Tuition at these schools takes place during 
the school holidays.

A total of 4 744 learners were assisted during the period.

Below are some of the general comments of the learners 
from the feedback forms:

“The Teacher was perfect. She really knows her work 
and understood what she was doing”

“There is a sudden change in my understanding of maths”

“I would like the teacher to come and teach us in the 
coming terms so that we can improve our knowledge. 
Yes, this programme really gave me clarity and 
understanding in those topics”

ECIC PROGRAMME

The ECIC Learner Support Programme is a partnership 
between the Sci-Bono Discovery Centre and Export 
Credit Insurance Corporation of South Africa SOC Ltd 
(ECIC). It is a learner support programme that is rolled 
out in the Tshwane South and Tshwane West districts.
 
The programme targets Grade12 learners from 
secondary schools in the southern and western regions 
of Tshwane, offering afternoon walk-in tuition in 
Mathematics, Accounting, Life Sciences and Physical 
Sciences, Monday to Thursday. 

Two sites in Tshwane West, and three in Tshwane South, 
were selected as implementation centres for the 2018 
programme roll-out. 

813 Learners benefitted from the 2018 programme 
rollout.
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TEACHER TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT 
The aim of Sci-Bono Discovery Centre’s Teacher  
Training Programmes is to provide teachers who 
are involved in teaching Mathematics, Sciences and 
Technology as subjects with the opportunity of up- 
skilling and re-skilling their content knowledge in 
each of the subjects. This Programme is implemented 
in collaboration with Mathew Goniwe School of  
Governance and Leadership, and the Provincial Training 
Institute. 

TEACHER TRAINING

This financial year, Sci-Bono Discovery Centre conducted 
the Just-In-Time training workshops addressing content, 
assessments, teaching and learning methodologies, 
and the institutionalisation of ICT through training 
and support to MST-teachers. A high number of the 
programmes implemented this financial year were 
South Africn Council for Educators (SACE) endorsed. 
This sub-directorate managed to train 21 197 teachers 
and 429 hours were spent capacitating teachers in the 
Foundation Phase, Intermediate Phase, Senior Phase 
and FET. 

Responding to the GDE’s Strategic Objective MT203: 
To Improve learner performance through curriculum 
implementation and support programmes with the 
indicator title that speaks to the percentage of teachers 
meeting required content knowledge levels after 
support. Sci-Bono Discovery Centre currently uses 
the pre- and post-tests as the only tool to measure the 
immediate success of the teacher training programmes. 
Teachers are expected to take a test at the beginning of 
training and another test at the end of training.

Figure 17 shows the average improvement observed at 
all phases of various topics.
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Most people say that it is the  
intellect which makes a great  
scientist. They are wrong: 
it is character.  
Albert Einstein
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ICT TRAINING SUPPORT AND DEVELOPMENT 
The ICT Unit is accredited as a Microsoft Imagine 
Academy, a CompTIA Academy Partner, MICT SETA, 
Cisco IT Academy, Cisco Instructor Training Centre and 
was registered as a Cisco Academy Support Centre in 
November 2018.  The ICT Academy is SACE endorsed.

In 2018/19, the Sci-Bono ICT Training and Development 
Unit engaged a total of 7 533 school learners, youth, Sci-
Bono staff, and the public in a range of training programs 
and learning opportunities.

YOUTH DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME

Sci-Bono ICT Academy aims to empower unemployed 
youth for success in the digital economy by offering 
relevant accredited training that is responsive to current 
market dynamics of digital transformation, technology 
disruption and the IT evolution. 

• 180 Youth enrolled on a one-year, full-time 
programme that includes Cisco IT Essentials, 
Introduction to Cybersecurity, Linux Essentials, 
Networking Essentials, CCNA: Routing & Switching, 
CCNA Security, Internet of Things, Programming 
in C, C++, Python, Web Development, End-User 
Computing, MS Project and Microsoft Office and MS 
Visio. The 2019 programme includes CCNA Cyber 
Operations.

• The pilot CCNA Security training conducted on 
Saturdays concluded with 17 out of the 18 students 
passing the exam. 

• Digital Literacy was offered to 150 youth from formal 
youth organisations.

The Sci-Bono ICT Academy received recognition for its 
excellence at Southern Africa – African Networking 
Academy Safari 2019. The Conference and Awards 

Ceremony is held annually for recognition of excellent 
achievement, professional development and sharing of 
academy curriculum and technical updates. For 2018, 
Sci-Bono ICT Academy received the following awards:

• The ICT Academy Award: Top Cyber Security 
Academy Award

• Instructor Excellence Award: Internet of Things 
awarded to John Doyoyo

• Instructor Excellence Awards: CCNA Security 
Specialist: Enoch Mankune

LEARNER PROGRAMMES

The Sci-Bono Clubhouse, a daily after-school 
programme for learners aged 9 to 18, aims to ensure 
that learners are prepared for digital transformation 
and ensures full participation in the 4IR. The Clubhouse 
offers the following training programmes: coding, 
robotics, advanced networking, network security, web 
development, graphic design, 3D designs, 2D and 3D 
modelling, animation, video production, basic computing, 
virtual art, music design and production. The training is 
also offered to learners at the 6 Dell Solar Powered Labs 
located in Mapetla High School, Emndeni High School, 
Rust-ter-Vaal Primary, and 2 at Waverly Girls High 
School.   

Waverley Girls High School integrated the Solar Lab 
ICT training into the timetable and all grades are 
accommodated for one visit to the lab per 8-day cycle. 
This has resulted in access to digital learning for over 
700 learners at the school, resulting in a culture of using 
technology for research, completion of assignment, 
application for bursary, job and learning opportunities.  
For the reporting period, 4 542 visits to the solar labs 
have been recorded.  

SPECIAL CLUBHOUSE ACTIVITIES AND 
ACHIEVEMENTS

• Coding and Robotics was presented at 8 SoS and 3 
Solar-Powered Classrooms. The training culminated 
in participation in the national first Lego League 
Robotics Competition. The Clubhouse team won the 
Programming Award in the regional competition held 
in October 2018.

• Seven Clubhouse members are participating in the 
FIRST Tech Challenge.  This challenge is designed for 
students in Grades 7 to 12, where they compete head 
to head, using a sports model. Teams are responsible 
for designing, building, and programming an 18 by 18 
inch robot over the course of a five-month regular 
season to compete in an alliance format against other 
teams.

• Four girls participated in the Technovation Change 
for Girls where participants identify a social problem 
and develop an app as a solution.

• Three of the Clubhouse member projects made 
it to the finals of the Global Reach Competition. 
A competition where learners use technology to 
highlight global social issues.  Winning projects are 
used for global campaigns highlighting social issues.

CLUBHOUSE HIGHLIGHTS

The first South African Regional Conference was held 
from 27 February to 2 March 2019, with the Sci-Bono 
Clubhouse hosting a regional gathering of Clubhouses. 
The first South Africa Regional Clubhouse Conference 
(ARCC) brought together coordinators, members, and 
alumni from The Bellavista Clubhouse in Johannesburg, 
The Etwatwa Clubhouse in Benoni, The Johannesburg 
Region B Clubhouse, The Soweto Clubhouse in Phefeni 
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and others welcomed guests from area organisations 
that provide similar services. This conference furthered 
The Clubhouse’s mission by giving the regional team the 
opportunity to explore and experience the Clubhouse 
learning model, while building camaraderie and 
community spirit. 

The Clubhouse mission is to provide a creative and safe 
out-of-school learning environment where young people 
from underserved communities can work with adult 
mentors to explore their own ideas, develop new skills, 
and build self-confidence through the use of technology.

This conference provided professional development 
opportunities for coordinators. In addition to serving 
Clubhouse professionals, each coordinator from 
participating sites brought mentors, many of whom 
are also Clubhouse alumni. On the last day of this 
conference, over 60 members participated in the event 
to share experiences, knowledge, and resources in a 
hands-on fashion. This was an opportunity for Clubhouse 
staff to acquire additional technical skills as a means to 
continuously adapt and deepen The Clubhouse’s learning 
model. Training included virtual reality, augmented 
reality, 360-degree pictures, video and music production.

The Clubhouse founders and MIT Media Lab 
representatives Mitchel Resnick and Natalie Rusk, and 
graduate students Yusef Ahmad and Marian Muthuiled 
led the well-received Scratch Workshop. The member 
summit at the end of the week was filled with team-
building activities and group projects, closing with 
performances and presentations of those projects.

Coding and Robotics at the SoS was introduced to 
actively engage learners in a variety of activities in the 
coding and robotics space. The aim of the programme 
is to provide an introduction to coding/programming, 
ranging from elementary level to advanced level – all 
depending on the pace of learning. A total of 206 learners 

SCHOOL NAME SPECIALITY LAUNCH PROGRAM

Edward Phatudi (TS)
Phelindaba (TS)

NECSA Schools:
24 April 2018

1. Learners designed and animated 3D Atomic Models

Rhodesfield (EN) Paramount School:
23 May 2018

1. Learners used Photoshop to design a 360-degree  
    virtual reality cockpit tour
2. Learners used Blender to design a 3D aircraft model

Mohloli Maritime S.O.S Maritime School:
28 February 2019

1. Learners learned the fundamentals of robotics to  
    design a ship that is able to follow instructions to  
    receive and deliver goods.
2. Learners used blender to design a 3D Model Ship.

SCI-BONO CONTRIBUTED TO THE LAUNCH OF 4 SOS AS INDICATED IN THE TABLE

Blender Scratch Robotics Photoshop

FIGURE 18: The Activities at SoS in Preparation for the Launch
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from four winning schools as well as four SoS schools 
completed the training on Scratch as an introduction to 
programming.  

Training was conducted at Lyndhurst Primary School, 
Bovet Primary School, Halfway House Primary School, 
Mikateka Primary School, Phelindaba Secondary 
School, Edward Phadudi Secondary School, Rhodesfield 
Technical High and Magaliesburg Secondary School.

Sci-Bono trained 993 young people from the age of 8 to 
18 years to code using the programme Scratch during 
the Africa Code Week (ACW) from 18 to 28 October 2018. 
The ACW attempts to demystify coding and to create 
awareness on coding resources and opportunities for 
self-exploration and further development.

Sci-Bono ICT Unit delivers ICT training to 150 learners 
at the Dimension Data Saturday School. In total, one 
hundred Grade 11 learners are trained on Cybersecurity 
and Python and fifty grade 12 learners receive training in 
the Internet of Things and Robotics. This programme is 
carried out over twenty-four Saturdays (six per quarter) 
with two holiday programmes over April and October, 
totalling nine days. 

ICT TRAINING FOR SCI-BONO STAFF 
AND THE PUBLIC

Microsoft Office training was delivered to 250 social 
development officials from the Finance and HR Unit from 
28 January to 7 March 2019. Training was customised 
according to skills level as well as job function 
requirements for the different applications.

Training took place as follows:

• MS Word 80
• MS Excel 150
• MS Access 20

Altogether, 233 Sci-Bono staff members were trained on 
cybersecurity, as well as basic-to-expert-level Microsoft 
Office Applications including Word, Excel, Access, Visio, 
and MS Project.

SYSTEMS DEVELOPMENT 

The ICT development team developed an online analysing 
and reporting system for GDE. The system seeks to 
enable teachers to capture marks online – based on the 
topics for Grade 8 and 9 learners – and automatically 
calculates the percentage and levels, while creating 
graphs that capture the data.

The unit provided support to the Sci-Bono fleet and venue 
booking systems. FIGURE 19: Learners Attendance
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PROJECT MANAGEMENT OFFICE
The Sci-Bono Discovery Centre established a Project 
Management Office (PMO) in 2014/2015 to support the 
GDE ICT e-Learning Project. The project is driven by the 
Chief Director: School Support. Over the years, the PMO 
played a central role in the coordination and planning of 
the proof of concepts that culminated in the adoption of 
the architectural outlook of the ‘classroom of the future’. 

The PMO continued to provide project planning, 
management and reporting support to the Chief 
Directorate School Support of the GDE, which is 
responsible for the enrolment of the ICT e-Learning 
Project. Among other things, the PMO has been 
responsible for coordinating the ICT referrals; 
coordinated the ICT workstream meetings, plans and 
reports; coordinated the monthly ICT reports to various 
committees or stakeholders as and when required.

To ensure the quality administration and delivery of 
the MST contracts, the PMO executed the following 
functions:

• Inspection of items to ensure they meet the required 
specifications prior acceptance of delivery conducted 
at the supplier’s warehouse by the PMO and GDE.

• Coordination and monitoring of delivery by suppliers 
in accordance to the contract and specifications.

• Coordination and inspection of logistical arrangement 
during the teacher training sessions.

• Weekly reporting of progress and supplier 
performance management. 

• Close-out reports, preparation and submission of 
payments to Finance Department.

The highlight of the PMO for the year under review was 
the transfer of over 1 800 smartboards and over 1 586 
micro servers to approximately 415 ICT schools across 
fifteen districts of the GDE. During the year under  
review, the PMO successfully completed the following 
projects 2018/2019 Mathematics, Science and Technology 
(MST) captured by the 2018/2019 MST Business Plan:

• Interactive Content Software Technical Science 
Grade 12

• Interactive Content Software: Mathematics Grades 8 
to 9

• Olympiads (Project Based Learning for GET)
• Conducting of Development Camps for Grade 12 

Mathematics and Physical Science Learner Support
• Conducting of Development Camps for Grade 11 

Mathematics and Physical Science Learner Support
• Conducting of Learner Support for Mathematics and 

Natural Science Grade 8 & 9 Learner Development 
Camps

• Conducting of Learner Support for Mathematics and 
Natural Science Grade 8 & 9 Learner Development 
Camps

• Conducting of Development Games / Expos for Grade 
10 to 12

• Learner Support for Maths Olympiad, Maths Week 
activities and other competitions for GET schools

• Learner support for Science Olympiads, Science 
Week activities and other competitions including 
Science Expo’s for quintile 1 – 3 FET schools

• Learner support for Maths and Science 
Olympiads, Competitions and Expos FET level, 

• MST Teacher Subject Content Training GET and FET 
Mathematics, Science and Technology Teacher 
Subject Content Training GET and FET

• Learner support for Science Olympiads, Science 
Week activities and other competitions including 
Science Expo’s for quintile 1 – 3 FET schools.

In 2018/2019 fiscal year, the PMO focused on the 
improvement of the quality management process, and 
as such, the project officers paid the particular attention 
to quality assurance to ensure the attainment of the 
desired quality standards. It is for this reason that the 
office conducted vigorous ad-hoc inspections to the 
various sites and convened monthly project reviews to 
confirm the status and progress of the various projects. 

Sci-Bono is predominantly a project-based institution 
and requires a dedicated project management unit to 
support the execution of various projects. The success 
of the various projects implemented by some of the units 
within the institution is largely dependent on the quality of 
project management. The PMO provided the institution-
wide project management services to various units such 
as SSIP and Teacher Development Units (TDU).
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SUPPORT TO THE CORE FUNCTION
The core function of the organisation is supported 
internally by the following support functions which are 
under the directorate of the Chief Financial Officer:

FINANCE

• Financial management
• Risk management
• Payroll
• Procurement

CORPORATE SERVICES

• Human resources management
• Facilities management

The organisation’s activities are carried out within 
the core business. However, while the planning and 
implementation of the organisation’s activities are 
implemented by the core business functions the 
support functions are provided by the sub-units within 
corporate services. The Finance unit ensures that the 
yearly plans are adequately supported by available 
resources. Securing funds is thus a critical function 
of the organisation as by nature and formation, it is 
dependent on donor and project management funding. 
The other units such as Human Resources, Procurement 
and Facilities are the back-bone of the Finance unit. 
Historically and thus far, the organisation has mainly 
received funds from once source, the GDE. This is  
through the funding of the operations with the Science 
Centre (the programmes are outlined under the COO’s 
report) and implementation of projects such as SSIP,  
RoS and the MST conditional grant. In the current 

financial year, the GDE has contributed 86% of the total 
revenue generated. The contribution in the prior year 
was 81% (89% in the 2017/18) bearing in mind that this 
comparison does not take into account investment 
income. The organisation will continue to strive sourcing 
funds from other funders in order to expand on its vision 
of building a society that competes in the global world of 
science and technology.

The overall segregation of duties between the units 
has improved resulting in an improved internal control 
environment. Further details regarding the activities of 
the support function units are provided on the pages to 
follow.



FINANCE & ADMINISTRATION

The finance unit is responsible for the budgeting, 
procurement planning and management, financial 
management, disbursement of the funds, risk 
management and the overall monitoring of the internal 
control environment within the organisation.

The financial year 2018-19 is the year where action plans 
were implemented resulting in some improvements in 
the internal control environment of the organisation. 
Some of the achievements were attained post financial 
year-end date, nonetheless impacting on the year under 
review; paving the way to a better 2020 financial year. 

The mid-year revised budget for the year under review 
was R236 million (R268 million for the previous year), 
this decrease in the budget is resulting from various 
limitations and constraints, including the availability 
of funding from the GDE. The largest component of the 
budget remains the Secondary School Improvement 
Programme the Sci-Bono manages on behalf of the GDE. 
We anticipate that the budget will remain under pressure 
in  the 2019/20 financial year and therefore do not expect 
to see any significant growth in the level of operations.

In terms of revenue, the organisation did not perform 
as it did in the previous financial year. Whilst revenue 
decreased by 30%, the implementation of stringent cost 
containment, measures saw the operating deficit yielding 
only R5,2 million in contrast to R16,180 million surplus of 
the prior year. This was achieved through reduction of 
expenditure by 25%. 

The decrease in revenue also lead to a decrease in overall 
expenditure, hence the operating deficit. Improvements 
in turn-around times, in the payment of our service 
providers were also significant. Trade payables at year-
end were only R1,6 million compared to R8.2 million 
for the previous year (80% decrease). The investment 
income also decreased due to timeous implementation 
of the projects leading to less funds held in the bank 
accounts. 

This is further supported by note 9 in the notes to 
the annual financial statements, current liabilities, 
illustrating that monies held on behalf of donors has 
reduced significantly from R105,321 million in the 2016-
17 financial year to R4,5 million in the previous financial 
year and Rnil as at the end of the financial year. This is 
indicative that the financial resources of the organisation 
were adequately managed in the current year. Figure 
21 depicts the relation between the total revenue and 
expenditure leading to the surplus reflected per the 
statement of financial performance.

RISKS MANAGEMENT

The risk assessment within the organisation still require 
some improvement to reach a maturity level. Though 
risk monitoring processes are in place, the organisation 
is still striving to reach a point where the triggers, in all 
aspects of the organisation’s operations, are maturely 
effective and proactive.

PAYROLL & PROCUREMENT 
MANAGEMENT

The procurement unit is still the pillar of the organisation 
in ensuring efficient, economic and effective cost spending 
within the organisation leading to timeous and efficient 
delivery of the projects implemented. The stringent cost 
containment measures were implemented through this 
unit. We have continued to see improvements in the 
efficiency of financial management; the upgrading and 
fine tuning of our procurement policies and processes 
in the review period have greatly assisted us to manage 
funds and projects successfully.

FINANCE
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Permanent Employees
At the end of February 2019, total number of permanent 
employees in Sci-Bono Discovery Centre stood at 166.  
(See Figure 21.)

The decrease to the number is because of the current 
terminations due to resignations.

Fixed-Term Contracts Employees
The total number of the fixed-term contract employees 
went from 26 to the 33 by the end of February 2019 in  
Sci-Bono Discovery Centre. (See Figure 22.)

CORPORATE SERVICES

HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT 

During the year under review, the department achieved 
significant progress against its strategic goals.

The Human Resources Management department 
support the overall organisation in terms of learning 
and development. It also assists the organisation by 
improving performance, ensuring a healthy workforce 
through employee well-being programmes.

ORGANOGRAM
The organogram remains as approved by the Board, 
however, most positions remain vacant due to funding 
challenges. The approved organogram can be viewed in 
Annexure A.

STAFF DEMOGRAPHICS
The size of the organisation’s staff complement has 
decreased over the last three months due to staff 
turnover. The current number as per below headcounts 
indicates a total of 278 employees as at the last financial 
year. About 13 terminations were affected for this 
quarter between December, January and February due 
to 6 resignations and end-of-contracts, of which two of 
the employees were senior managers.

Headcount
The total headcounts as of the 28th February 2019 is 270 
for Sci-Bono staff. It is made up of the following:

• Full-Time Employees: 166
• Fixed-Term Contract Employees: 33 
• Casuals: 67 
• Psychometric Interns:  4

The total above excludes
• Interns:  4

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

180

175

170

165

160

155
171179 176 166

FIGURE 22: Number of Fixed-Term Employees per 
Quarter
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FIGURE 21: Number of Permanent Employees per 
Quarter



The fixed-term contracts range from one– to five-year 
contracts. The decrease in number for this quarter is due 
to end-of-employment contracts.

Casuals 
There are 67 casuals in this period.

The total headcount as of 28th February 2019 is 3534 for 
Projects staff. It is made up of the following: 

• SSIP Trainers:       3114
• Independent Contractors:       420
• Interns (on stipends):     0 

TOTAL:     3534

Independent Contractors per quarter
The number of independent contractors have decreased 
from 646 to 420 compared to the last reporting period.  
(See Figure 24.)

Ad-Hoc Employees (SSIP Trainers)
The number of SSIP Trainers had reduced from 
3562 to 3114 compared to the last reporting period.  
(See Figure 25.)

Interns
We have four internal interns that are currently in the 
Career Centre Department as psychometrics interns. 
(See Figure 26.)

1st Quarter 2nd Quarter 3rd Quarter 4th Quarter

86
1262

82 67

1400

1200

1000

800

600

400

200

0

FIGURE 23: Number of Casual Contracts per Quarter
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FIGURE 24: Number of Independent Contractors per 
Quarter
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FIGURE 25: Number of SSIP Trainers per Quarter
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Employment Equity Breakdown 
There were more females than males in Sci-Bono during 
this period. However, there is still a need to recruit 
disabled people. Management is taking measures to 
deliberately recruit disabled people. We have to take the 
limitations of the buildings, the accesses, ablutions, etc. 
into account. 

Staff Training and Development
In the year under review, 32 employees were allocated 
study grants.

Well-Maintained Work/Life Balance
The HR department also facilitated several staff 
events: Staff year-end party; Wellness day.  Staff also 
participated in external events like 702 walk the talk, 
Soweto marathon and Hennops hiking.

Performance Management 
The organisation has started with the review of the 
current performance management system with the 
view of implementing a performance development 
management system (PDMS) in the beginning of the new 
year.

The objectives PMDS are to:

• Establish a performance and learning culture 
• Improve organisational performance
• Ensure that all staff members know and understand 

what is expected of them
• Promote interaction on performance between 

employees and their supervisors
• Identify,  manage and promote employees’ 

development needs
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FIGURE 27: Staff Demographics
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• Evaluate performance fairly and objectively
• Recognise categories of performance that are fully 

effective and better
• Integrate a reward system with performance 

management

Policy Review
Most HRD policies have been reviewed and are to be 
tabled to the board for approval.
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FACILITIES MANAGEMENT 

Facilities, manages the physical resources of 
the organisation which involves the planning and 
development of major projects, repairs, maintenance 
and refurbishments, space allocation, risk management, 
property portfolio, grounds, vehicle pool, telephone 
communications, information technology, security, 
and cleaning in a sustainable manner. Sustainable 
maintenance of buildings ensure that the building 
supports the core business with minimum impact on 
natural resources.

The department has achieved most of its targets as 
shown in the table.

ELECTRICAL AUDIT
The purpose of the Electrical Audit was to assess the 
condition of the building’s electrical installation and 
improve the current conditions and ensuring compliance 
with regulatory standards as well as reduce energy 
expenditure. The assessment was carried out to identify 
defects that do not comply with South African National 
Standards (SANAS) electrical standards, building 
regulations and the Occupational Health and Safety Act. 
The outcome of the audit was that Sci-Bono’s electrical 
installations were considered to be fair with few areas for 
improvement. Most improvement work as recommended 
by the assessment was done in-house.

GREENING INITIATIVE
We have started with the greening initiative where we 
have started to plant in all available spaces and have pot 
plants inside the building. Our approach is sustainable 
landscaping which promotes and enhances biodiversity, 
and is based on minimal use of off-site inputs and/or 
exotic plants. It promotes the use of local water-wise and 
drought-resistant plants.

   2018/19 ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACHIEVEMENT  
OF TARGET(S)

REASONS FOR ACHIEVEMENT/
NON-ACHIEVEMENT

VIP Boardroom revamp by end Aug 
2018 August   Project put on hold due to pending of 

funds

Establishment of Sci-Bono school of 
the future and smart classrooms  
(facilities to fit out identified  
classroom) by July 2018

July Project put on hold due to pending of 
funds

Servicing of all plant and materials 
according to service plan as when required Ongoing services

Servicing of all lifts – monthly (12) 12 Ongoing services
Servicing of sprinkler system  
 – quarterly (4) 4 Ongoing services

Servicing of generator – quarterly (4) 4  
Internal ongoing service done, the 
external service by the external service 
provider to be done end Feb

Servicing of fire hydrants and fire 
extinguishers – quarterly (4) 4    

Refurbishment Science Centre Walls 
by July; provided there is funding July 0 Budget not available

Achieve 95% occupancy rate for all 
leasable areas 95%  

Two tenants served a notice to vacate, 
Received two proposed leases 
(to be reviewed)

All maintenance issues are dealt with 
timeously (48 hours turnaround time) 
- going

48hrs    

Office and storage re-organisation to 
be completed by end July July

Some of the projects have been  
completed, challenges with  
procurement process and funding

Conduct Facilities audit – weekly 
report 52

24hrs turn-around time on it services 24hrs

Ensure 98% operation of IT  
infrastructure and network availability 98%

0 incidents of Safety against virus 
attacks, loss of information or  
unauthorised access

0

Installation of walk through scanners 
on all entrances by end August August Budget availability
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SCIENCE SQUARE PROJECT
Sci-Bono submitted a proposal to Johannesburg 
Development Agency (JDA) for the development of a 
Science Square as part of the initiative by the City “Our 
City, Our Block” project. The proposal was shortlisted for 
part funding and JDA appointed a private consulting firm 
to conduct water study to investigate the beneficiation 
options of water sourced from the Sci-Bono storm and 
groundwater system. The findings were that there is 
enough water that goes to waste on a daily basis that could 
be harvested to service the park and other initiatives. 
The project is currently on hold due to shortage of funds. 
We will continue to look for additional partners/funders 
to implement the project.

   2018/19 ANNUAL 
TARGET

ACHIEVEMENT  
OF TARGET(S)

REASONS FOR ACHIEVEMENT/
NON-ACHIEVEMENT

Automated scanning entrances for 
tablets, laptops, computers, etc by end 
August

August   Budget availability

Conduct safety drills – at least two per 
annum: one in July and one in January 2  

one conducted in July. Security and 
Safety Officer position vacant in Jan 
2019. Drill was not conducted.

100% Compliance to the OHS Act 100%  

Although there are no violations in 
terms of the Act, there were two  
reported incidents (food poisoning 
from an external catering company)

Have safety meeting in line with the 
OHS Act at least 4 per annum 4   3 out of 4 meetings were held

Approved Health and Safety Policy by 
September September Draft Policy tabled 

at Finco

A draft policy was tabled at Finco in 
Dec and policy workshop has been 
scheduled to take place in March 2019

Appointments to be done 16(1) - CEO; 
Health and Safety representatives 
(17(1) by end July July

   

Training of Safety representatives and 
Management by end July    

Continuous training of safety statutory 
structures and appointments Ongoing    

Good housekeeping Ongoing    

Clean and green environment Ongoing   
Landry services Ongoing   



MARKETING, COMMUNICATIONS AND EVENTS

MARKETING AND COMMUNICATIONS

The Marketing and Communications Department is 
responsible for Sci-Bono’s marketing, media relations, 
advertising, internal and external communication. It is 
also responsible for general and online communications.

Last year, Sci-Bono set a new record for media 
coverage with the organisation achieving its highest 
Advertising Value Equivalent (AVE), which amounted to  
R28 294 684.71 i.e.: the rand value of media coverage 
measured by the cost of what would have been paid if  
purchasing the same amount of advertising space.

The increase in the amount of media coverage enjoyed 
by Sci-Bono during the financial year was mainly the  
result of hosting an International Exhibition: The 
Wonders of Rock Art: Lascaux Cave and Africa. The 

additional publicity and marketing has resulted in an 
increase in demand for the use of Sci-Bono’s conference 
facilities and the introduction of Instagram as one of its 
social media platforms has contributed positively to the 
overall AVE.

Sci-Bono enjoys enormous media presence as indicated 
in the AVE. (See Figure 28.)

EVENTS

During the year 2018/2019, Sci-Bono hosted over 150 
external events, meetings & conferences, including GDE, 
Office of the Premier and E-Government. The Lascaux 
Exhibition: The Wonders of Rock Art: Lascaux Cave and 
Africa was our biggest exhibition in this financial year, 
hosted from May 2018 to  January 2019. The Climbing 
Wall was also Launched during this financial year.
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FIGURE 28

Some of the highlighted events:

• JDA hosted an event for 300 pax on behalf on the 
Deputy Executive Mayor of the City of Johannesburg.

• The Ahmed Kathrada Foundation hosted their 9TH 
Annual Lecture for 250 pax with guest speakers Ms 
Judith February and Ms Lindiwe Mazibuko.

• Bridge hosted a hackathon at our venue for 60 
international guests.

• AIDC hosted the 3rd session of “The People’s 
Permanent Tribunal” for 300 guests.

• Chinese Cultural Day - In partnership with GDE the 
Chinese Delegation hosted an exhibition for 100 
learners. The idea was voice and to interpret the 
Chinese with the ICH traditional crafts to make the 
people of South Africa understand the profound 
cultural connotations of the Chinese nation and show 
the charm of Chinese folk art.

Facebook

Twitter

Online

Print

Broadcast

Instagram
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The very nature of science is  
discoveries, and the best of  
those discoveries are the 
ones you don’t expect. 
Neil de Grasse Tyson
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

All members of the Board are Non-Executive Directors 
(NED’s) in terms of the Sci-Bono Memorandum of 
Incorporation. It is important to note that the Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO) is an ex officio member of the 
Board of Directors. As at 28 February 2019, the Sci-Bono 
Board of Directors  comprised the following members:

• Mr. Abbey Witbooi (Chairperson)
• Rev. Frank Chikane (Deputy Chairman)
• Prof. Bongani Bantwini
• Ms. Gail Campbell (resigned on 20 July 2018)
• Mr. Sathie Gounden
• Ms. Nandipha Madiba
• Mr. Zeth Malele
• Ms. Patricia Maloka
• Adv. Lentswe Mokgatle
• Mr. Andries Mthethwa (formerly Tshabalala) 

(resigned on 24 July 2018)
• Dr. Vathiswa Papu-Zamxaka
• Prof. Khulekani Sitole

Ex Officio Member
• Dr. More Chakane (1 April 2017 – present)

The Board met six times during the financial year (see 
Table 1 for members’ attendance).

DIRECTORS MEETING DATES SPECIAL MEETINGS

23/03/2018 14/05/2018 29/06/2018 27/09/2018 06/12/2018 07/02/2019

Mr. Abbey Witbooi √ √ √ √ √ √

Rev. Frank Chikane √ * * √ √ *
Prof. Bongani Bantwini √ √ √ √ * √
Prof. Khulekani Sitole √ √ * √ √ *
Adv. Lentswe Mokgatle √ √ * √ √ *
Ms. Nandipha Madiba √ * √ √ √* *

Ms. Patricia Maloka √ √ √ √ √ √

Mr. Sathie Gounden √ √ √ √ √ √

Dr. Vathiswa Papu-Zamxaka * √ √ √ √ √

Mr. Zeth Malele √ √ √ √ √ √

TABLE 1: BOARD MEETINGS ATTENDED

KEY:      √  Present   |   *   Apology Noted   |   #  Absent   |    √*  Teleconference   |   A/N/R   Attendance Not Required
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DIRECTORS MEETING DATES SPECIAL MEETINGS

23/03/2018 14/05/2018 29/06/2018 27/09/2018 06/12/2018 07/02/2019

Mr. Abbey Witbooi √ √ √ √ √ √

Rev. Frank Chikane √ * * √ √ *
Prof. Bongani Bantwini √ √ √ √ * √
Prof. Khulekani Sitole √ √ * √ √ *
Adv. Lentswe Mokgatle √ √ * √ √ *
Ms. Nandipha Madiba √ * √ √ √* *

Ms. Patricia Maloka √ √ √ √ √ √

Mr. Sathie Gounden √ √ √ √ √ √

Dr. Vathiswa Papu-Zamxaka * √ √ √ √ √

Mr. Zeth Malele √ √ √ √ √ √

AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE 
RESPONSIBILITY

The ARC reports that it has complied with its 
responsibilities arising from the ARC Charter. The ARC 
has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as 
its charter, has regulated its affairs in compliance with 
the charter and has discharged all its responsibilities as 
contained therein.

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Internal Audit was in their third year of appointment 
and the Annual Plan was approved for implementation. 
The work carried out was in accordance with the 
approved plan for the year. In line with the King IV on 
Corporate Governance, Internal Audit is expected to 
provide the ARC and Management with assurance that 
the internal controls are appropriate and effective. 
The company follows a combined assurance approach. 
The Internal Auditors issued reports for areas of work 

AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE REPORT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 
2019

The Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) herewith presents 
their report for the financial year ended 28 February 
2019, as required by the Companies Act 71 of 2008.

AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE MEMBERS 
& ATTENDANCE

The ARC was established in accordance with the 
provision of the Companies Act 71 of 2008. The ARC 
Charter requires that ARC comprise of a minimum of 
four members. The ARC consisted of five members, 
half of whom are Board members and the others being 
Independent members (see Table 2 for membership and 
attendance of the ARC).

conducted and made recommendations to Management 
for correction and actions to be implemented. Follow-up 
on work carried out in the prior year was also conducted 
which highlighted improvements made.

EFFECTIVENESS OF INTERNAL 
CONTROL

The ARC has reviewed the internal controls environment 
for effectiveness and adequacy. This was through review 
of the work conducted by the Internal Auditors, progress 
made by Management on the prior years’ audit findings 
and the report of the External Auditors. Our assessment 
of these controls even though progress is visible, 
is that the overall control environment still require 
improvement.

Management has committed to implementing corrective 
action to avoid recurrence of the same findings in the 
coming financial years.

DIRECTORS MEETING DATES SPECIAL MEETINGS

19/03/2018 25/06/2018 10/09/2018 05/12/2018 11/05/2018 03/08/2018 19/12/2018

Sathie Gounden √ √ √ √ √ √ √*

Stephen Tibini √ * √ * √ √ *

Nandipha Madiba √ √ * √* √ √ √*

Kgabiso Manthata * √ √ √* √ √ √*

Rochelle Abdul N/A N/A N/A √ √ √*

TABLE 2: AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE MEETINGS ATTENDED

KEY:      √  Present   |   *   Apology Noted   |   #  Absent   |    √*  Teleconference   |   A/N/R   Attendance Not Required   |   N/A   Not Appointed At Time

KEY:      √  Present   |   *   Apology Noted   |   #  Absent   |    √*  Teleconference   |   A/N/R   Attendance Not Required



GOVERNANCE OF RISK

The ARC is responsible for oversight of the risk 
management function. The ARC has reviewed the 
risk registers, tracked prior years’ audit findings 
and performed an overall assessment of the risk 
environment. The governance of risk is not at a state 
desired by the ARC. The ARC has made recommendations 
to Management on areas requiring improvements.

THE QUALITY OF MANAGEMENT & 
QUARTERLY REPORTS

The ARC was satisfied with the content and quality of 
management and quarterly reports prepared and issued 
during the year under review. The actual costs incurred 
were also monitored against the approved budget 
throughout the year. The ARC noted the improvements 
in the quality of the reports tabled by Management 
and made recommendations towards remedying any 
shortcomings.

EVALUATION OF THE ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The ARC evaluated the Annual Financial Statements 
presented in this Annual Report. The Annual Financial 
Statements fairly present the financial performance, 
the cash flows, financial position and the results of the 
financial operations for the year ended 28 February 2019. 

The focus of the review of the Annual Financial 
Statements was on the following:

• Significant financial reporting judgments and 
estimates contained in the annual financial  
statements

• Clarity and completeness of disclosure and 
adequacy thereof

• Quality and acceptability of, and any changes in,  
accounting policies and practices

• Compliance with accounting standards and legal  
requirements

• Significant adjustments and/or unadjusted differ-
ences resulting from the audit

• Reflection of unusual circumstances or events and 
management’s explanation for the accounting  
treatment adopted

• Reasons for major year-on-year fluctuations
• Valuation of significant estimates
• Calculation and levels of general and specific  

provisions
• Write-offs and reversal thereof
• The basis for the going concern assumption.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REPORT

There are no unresolved issues raised by the External 
Auditors and the ARC accepts the conclusion and audit 
opinion of the External Auditors on the Annual Financial 
Statements. The external audit function is independent 
of the entity.

The ARC has met with the External Auditors and 
acknowledges the diligence and co-operation of its team.

On behalf of the Audit and Risk Committee:

Mr Sathie Gounden
Chairman of the Audit & Risk Committee
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BOARD PROCUREMENT COMMITTEE
The Board Procurement Committee (BPC) has an 
oversight role over the organisation’s procurement 
processes in terms of:

• Ensuring that there is an appropriate procurement 
system that is fair, equitable, transparent, competitive 
and cost effective

• Establishing effective, efficient and transparent 
systems of financial, risk management and internal 
controls

• Promoting the efficient, effective and economic use 
of resources

• Conducting effective planning and implementation of 
the procurement process

• Monitoring that the bid evaluation and adjudication 
process is conducted in an effective and transparent 
way in order to approve recommend bids tabled to the 
BPC. 

The Board Procurement Committee comprises of the 
following members:

• Adv. Lentswe Mokgatle (Chaiperson)
• Dr. Vhathiswa Papa-Zamxaka
• Mr. Zeth Malele

The BPC met five times during the financial year
(see Table 3 for members’ attendance).

DIRECTORS MEETING DATES

28/03/2018 18/06/2018 18/09/2018

Adv. Lentswe Mokgatle( Chairperson) √ √ √

Dr Vathiswa Papu –Zamxaka * * √

Mr. Zeth Malele √ √ √

TABLE 3: BOARD PROCUREMENT COMMITTEE MEETINGS ATTENDED

KEY:      √  Present   |   *   Apology Noted   |   #  Absent   |    √*  Teleconference   |   A/N/R   Attendance Not Required



FINANCE, BUSINESS & HR COMMITTEE
The Finance Committee’s (FINCO) function is governed 
by Terms of Reference which effectively determine the 
areas of governance for the committee such as:

• Financial management and administration
• Human resources, Industrial relations and skills 

development and training
• Policy, legal matters and compliance
• Facilities, IT governance and asset management 
• Tenant Management
• Marketing and Communications and
• Health and Safety

TABLE 4: FINANCE, BUSINESS & HUMAN RESOURCES BOARD COMMITTEE MEETINGS

DIRECTORS MEETING DATES

25/04/2018 07/05/2018 15/06/2018 19/06/2018 19/09/2018 19/10/2018 16/11/2018 12/12/2018 01/02/2019 22/02/2019

Ms. Patricia Maloka (Chairperson) √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √

Prof. Bongani Bantwini √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √ √

Prof. Khulekani Sitole √ √ * √ √ √ √ √ √ √

DIRECTORS SPECIAL MEETINGS

08/02/2019 14/02/2019

Ms. Patricia Maloka (Chairperson) √ √

Prof. Bongani Bantwini √ √

Prof. Khulekani Sitole √ √

The Finance, Business and HR Committee comprises of 
the following members:

• Ms. Patricia Maloka (Chairperson)
• Prof. Bongani Douglas Bantwini
• Prof. Khulekani Sitole.

The committee meets on a monthly basis, save for 
extenuating circumstances when special meetings were 
called. The attendance register for the meetings held is 
reflected in Table 4.

KEY:      √  Present   |   *   Apology Noted   |   #  Absent   |    √*  Teleconference   |   A/N/R   Attendance Not Required
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SOCIAL & ETHICS COMMITTEE
Social and Ethics Committee (SEC) was established in 
accordance to the provisions of the Companies Act 71 of 
2008. The oversight role of the SEC covers organisational 
ethics, responsible corporate citizenship and sustainable 
development. The role of the committee encompasses 
not only organisational ethics but seeks to encourage 
the creation of value in society beyond organizational 
compliance.

The SEC is composed of the following members:

• Rev. Frank Chikane (Chairperson)
• Ms. Gail Campbell –Resigned on 20 July 2018
• Mr. Andries Mthethwa (formerly Tshabalala) –

Resigned on 24 July 2018

The SEC should meet twice a year, save for extenuating 
circumstances when special meetings should be called. 
However, the scheduled committee meetings were 
not held due to a lack of quorum. Furthermore, during 
the course of the financial year two members of the 
committee resigned.



THE RAPID INSTITUTION AND SUSTAINABILITY 
ASSESSMENT COMMITTEE (RISA) 
The Rapid Institution and Sustainability Assessment 
Committee derive its mandate directly from the  
Sci-Bono Board of Directors. During an ordinary meeting 
of the Board of Directors held on the 27th September 
2018, reports on the Rapid Assessment of Gauteng 
Provincial Government Agencies and Entities as well 
as a National Treasury Circular on the Classification of 
Transfers and Subsidies versus Goods and Services or 
Capital Assets were presented for consideration.

The Board resolved to constitute a dedicated AD HOC 
committee that would function in collaboration with the 
Executive Management team, to in order to evaluate 
viable options for Sci-Bono to expediently adapt and 
re-position itself appropriately. The Rapid Institutional 
& Sustainability Assessment Committee is largely 
prompted and occasioned by the following occurrences 
or developments:   

• Concern by the Board of Directors over key findings 
and recommendations of the ‘Review of GPG Agencies 
and Entities’ report.

• Implications of the Classification Circular on 
‘Classification of Transfers and Subsidies versus 
goods and services or Capital Assets’.

• Sustainability and Re-positioning within a   
context of Rationalisation of GPG SOE’s and /or   
section 21 Non – Profit Company.

• A critical need for Sci-Bono to validate and  assess  
financial risks, prospects of short, medium and 
long term sustainability of the current institutional 
framework, conduct a forecast on the capability and 
capacity to honour contracts relating to programmes, 
services and  committed/ongoing  projects as well as 
implications  for our  Human Resource Capital.

• The need to inevitably engage  the dialogue and 

evaluate  scenarios available in respect of  re-
registration / re-classification of Sci-Bono, exploring 
some of the options including the following:  

 - To remain a section 21 Non Profit Company (NPC).
 - Register as an Organisational Component under 

GDE or any other appropriate Department.
 - Enlist and register as a Schedule 3C( public 

entity) or any other permutations ( including 
benchmarking/drawing inferences on similar 
institutions within BRICS)

• Maintaining and ensuring effective, relevant and 
streamlined communication of the decisions taken by 
the committee.

The committee meets on an Ad Hoc basis and the 
attendance register for the meetings held is reflected in 
Table 5.

DIRECTORS MEETING DATES

11/10/2018 26/10/2018 30/11/2018

Mr. Abbey Witbooi** √ √

Adv. Lentswe Mokgatle N/A √ *

Ms. Nandipha Madiba √ * √

Ms. Patricia Maloka √ √ √

Mr. Zeth Malele √ √ √

TABLE 5: THE RAPID INSTITUTION AND SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENT COMMITTEE (RISA) 

KEY:      √  Present   |   *   Apology Noted   |   #  Absent   |    √*  Teleconference   |   A/N/R   Attendance Not Required   |   **By Invite Only
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Science knows no country,  
because knowledge belongs  
to humanity, and is the torch  
which illuminates the world. 

Louis Pasteur
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COUNTRY OF INCORPORATION  
AND DOMICILE 

South Africa

NATURE OF BUSINESS AND 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
  
Science Centre

DIRECTORS 

• Mr. Witbooi, Abbey (Chairperson)
• Rev. Chikane, Frank (Deputy Chairperson)
• Prof. Bantwini, Bongani Douglas
• Ms. Campbell, Gail Marlene  

(Resigned on 20 July 2018)
• Mr. Gounden, Sathiaseelan 
• Ms. Madiba, Nandipha Daphne 
• Mr. Malele, Ganelang Zeth
• Adv. Mokgatle, Lentswe Gabriel 
• Ms. Moloka, Patricia Ntepane
• Mr. Mthethwa, Mpila Andries  

(Resigned on 24 July 2018)
• Dr. Papu-Zamxaka, Vhathiswa Belinda
• Prof. Sitole, Khulekani

REGISTERED OFFICE  

Sci-Bono Discovery Centre
c/o Miriam Makeba & Helen Joseph Street
Newtown, 2107

POSTAL ADDRESS
 
PO Box 61882
Marshalltown 2107

BANKERS 

• Standard Bank of South Africa
• Nedbank

AUDITOR  

RAiN Chartered Accountants Inc.
Chartered Accountants (S.A.) Registered Auditor
34 Fricker Road, Illovo, Johannesburg, 2132
PO Box 1006, Saxonwold, Johannesburg, 2132

SECRETARY 

Ms. Mtshali, Mbali

COMPANY REGISTRATION NUMBER

2004/010183/08

TAX REFERENCE NUMBER 

9058859159

PREPARER 

The financial statements were internally compiled by: 
Mr. Nkateko Maluleke
 

GENERAL INFORMATION

Sci-Bono Discovery Centre NPC | (Registration number 
2004/010183/08) | Financial Statements for the year 
ended 28 February 2019. The reports and statements 
set out in the pages to follow comprise the financial 
statements presented to the members.
   



Mr. Abbey Witbooi
Chairperson

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL
The directors are required in terms of the Companies Act 
71 of 2008 to maintain adequate accounting records and 
are responsible for the content and integrity of the annual 
financial statements and related financial information 
included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure 
that the annual financial statements fairly present the 
state of affairs of the company as at the end of the financial 
year and the results of its operations and cash flows for 
the period then ended, in conformity with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditor 
is engaged to express an independent opinion on the 
annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements are prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and are based upon appropriate accounting 
policies consistently applied and supported by reasonable 
and prudent judgements  and  estimates.

The directors acknowledge that they are ultimately 
responsible for the system of internal financial control 
established by the company and place considerable 
importance on maintaining a strong control 
environment. To enable the directors to meet  these 
responsibilities, the board sets standards for internal 
control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in 
a cost effective manner. The standards include the 
proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly 
defined framework, effective accounting procedures 
and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an 
acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored 
throughout the company and all employees are required 
to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the 
company’s business is conducted in a manner that in all 
reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus 

of risk management in the company  is on identifying, 
assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms 
of risk across the company. While operating risk cannot 
be fully eliminated, the company endeavours to minimise 
it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure, controls, 
systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed 
within predetermined procedures and constraints.

The directors are of the opinion, based on the information 
and explanations given by management, that the system 
of internal control provides reasonable assurance that 
the financial records may be relied on for the preparation 
of the annual financial statements. However, any system 
of internal financial control can provide only reasonable, 
and not absolute, assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

The directors have reviewed the company’s cash flow 
forecast for the year to 29 February 2020 and, in light of 
this review and the current financial position, they are 
satisfied that the company has or had access to adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future.

The external auditor is responsible for independently 
auditing and reporting on the company’s annual financial 
statements. The annual financial statements have been 
examined by the company’s external auditor and their 
report is presented on pages 55 to 56.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 59 
to 90, which have been prepared on the going concern 
basis, were approved by the board on 30 July 2019 and 
were signed on their behalf by:

Dr More Chakane
Chief Executive Officer
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the stakeholders of Sci-Bono Discovery Centre NPC 
(Sci- Bono) 

OPINION

We have audited the annual financial statements of  
Sci-Bono Discovery Centre NPC set out on pages 59 to 
90, which comprise the statement of financial position 
as at 28 February 2019, the statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, statement of changes 
in equity, the statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes to the annual financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the annual financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of Sci-Bono Discovery Centre NPC as at 28 February 
2019, and its financial performance and cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of 
the Companies Act of South Africa No.71 of 2008.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the annual financial 
statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the company in accordance with the Independent 
Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of Professional 
Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other 
independence requirements applicable to performing 
audits of annual financial statements in South Africa. 
We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with the IRBA Code and in accordance with 
other ethical requirements applicable to performing 
audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is consistent with 
the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (Parts A and 
B). We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the Directors’ Report 
and the Detailed Income Statement as required by the 
Companies Act of South Africa No.71 of 2008 of South 
Africa, which we obtained prior to the date of this report. 
Other information does not include the annual financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the annual financial statements does 
not cover the other information and we do not express 
an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the annual financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent with the annual 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the 
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude 
that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have 
nothing to report in this regard.



audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may 
cause the company to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure 
and content of the annual financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the annual 
financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation.

• We communicate with the directors regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that 
we identify during our audit.

RAiN Chartered Accountants Incorporated 
Per: I.E. Pierce
Director
Registered Auditor
30 July 2019
Johannesburg 

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE 
DIRECTORS FOR THE ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of the annual financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of 
South Africa No.71 of 2008, and for such internal control 
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of annual financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the annual financial statements, the 
directors are responsible for assessing the company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the company or to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to 
do so. 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES 
FOR THE AUDIT OF THE ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the annual financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with International Standards 
on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, individually or 

in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these annual financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional 
judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the annual financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform 
audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant 
to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the company’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ 
use of the going concern basis of accounting and 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the annual financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The directors have pleasure in submitting their report on 
the annual financial statements of Sci-Bono Discovery 
Centre NPC for the year ended 28 February 2019.

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND 
ACTIVITIES

The annual financial statements have been prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act 
71 of 2008. The accounting policies have been applied 
consistently compared to the prior year.

Full details of the financial position, results of operations 
and cash flows of the company are set out in these annual 
financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING 
PERIOD

The directors are not aware of any material event which 
occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of 
this report.

GOING CONCERN

The directors  believe that the company has adequate 
financial resources to continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future  and accordingly the annual financial 
statements have been prepared on a going concern 
basis. The directors have satisfied themselves that 
the company is in a sound financial position and that it 
has access to sufficient borrowing facilities to meet its 
foreseeable cash requirements. The directors are not 

aware of any new material changes that may adversely 
impact the company. The directors are also not aware 
of any material non-compliance with statutory or 
regulatory requirements or of any pending changes to 
legislation which may affect the company.

AUDITORS

RAiN Chartered Accountants Inc. continued in office as 
auditors for the company for 2019.

At the AGM, the member will be requested to reappoint 
RAiN Chartered Accountants Inc. as the independent 
external auditors of the company and to confirm Mr. I.E. 
Pierce as the designated lead audit partner for the 2020 
financial year.

SECRETARY

The company secretary is Miss Mbali Mtshali.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 59 
to 90, which have been prepared on the going concern 
basis, were approved by the board on 30 July 2019, and 
were signed on its behalf by:

Mr. Abbey Witbooi - Chairperson
Tuesday, 30 July 2019
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Figures in Rand Note(s)  2019  2018  

Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 409,170,807 416,816,150
Intangible assets 4 37,224 53,794

409,208,031 416,869,944
Current Assets
Inventories 5 30,606 -
Trade and other receivables (net of impaired amount) 6 52,179,738 34,796,578
Investments at fair value 7 148,953,795 178,619,990
Cash and cash equivalents 8 21,688,133 5,770,630

222,852,272 219,187,198

Total Assets 632,060,303 636,057,142

Equity and Liabilities
Equity
Revaluation Reserves 165,455,406 168,167,790
Retained income 268,588,743 258,351,312

434,044,149 426,519,102
Liabilities
Non-Current Liabilities
Deferred income (Government grants) 12 189,763,110  192,925,829

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables 11 6,656,577 10,668,665

Deferred income (Government grants) 12 - 4,500,000
Provisions 10 1,596,467 1,443,546

8,253,044 16,612,211
Total Liabilities 198,016,154 209,538,040
Total Equity and Liabilities 632,060,303 636,057,142

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 28 FEBRUARY 2019



STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Figures in Rand Note(s) 2019  2018 
Revenue 13 3,340,368 2,138,025
Cost of sales 14 (20,969) -
Gross surplus 3,319,399 2,138,025
Other operating income 15 933,697 334,252
Realisation of deferred income 3,162,718 3,162,718
Donations Income 950,554 5,234,519
Grants Income - Operations 30,924,000 19,546,491
Compensation from insurance claims 16,420 -
Grants Income - Project Activities 208,357,461 323,542,817
Other operating gains (losses) 16 (1,050,068) (572,308)
Other operating expenses (94,597,573) (151,106,875)
Project activities expenses (157,392,280) (185,925,580)
Operating surplus/(deficit) 17 (5,375,672) 16,354,059
Investment income 18 12,925,063 19,010,067
Finance costs 19 (24,341) (1,494)
Surplus for the year 7,525,050 35,362,632
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Note(s)
Revaluation 

reserve
Retained  

income Total equity
Figures in Rand
Balance at 01 March 2017 170,880,173 220,276,296 391,156,469
Surplus for the year - 35,362,633 35,362,633
Transfer between Reserves (2,712,384) 2,712,384 -
Total comprehensive income for the year (2,712,384) 38,075,017 35,362,633
Balance at 01 March 2018 9 168,167,790 258,351,312 426,519,102
Surplus for the year - 7,525,050 7,525,050
Transfer between Reserves 9 (2,712,384) 2,712,384 -
Total comprehensive income for the year (2,712,384) 10,237,434 7,525,050
Balance at 28 February 2019 9 165,455,406 268,588,746 434,044,152



STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Figures in Rand Note(s)  2019 2018

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash used in operations 21 (23,188,799) (78,488,081)
Interest income 12,925,063 19,010,067
Finance costs (24,341) (1,494)
Net cash from operating activities (10,288,077) (59,479,508)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment 3 (3,435,023) (4,790,316)
Sale of investments at fair value 29,666,195 51,611,050
Net cash from investing activities 26,231,172 46,820,734

Total cash movement for the year 15,943,095 (12,658,774)
Cash at the beginning of the year 5,770,630 18,468,616
Effect of exchange rate movement on cash balances (25,592) (39,212)
Total cash at end of the year 8 21,688,133 5,770,630
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Sci-Bono Discovery Centre NPC is a non-profit company 
incorporated and domiciled in South Africa.

The annual financial statements for the year ended 28 
February 2019 were authorised for issue in accordance 
with a resolution of the directors on Tuesday, 30 July 
2019.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the prep-
aration of these annual financial statements are set out 
below. 

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The annual financial statements have been prepared 
on the going concern basis in accordance with, and 
in compliance with, International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”) and International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) interpretations 
issued and effective at the time of preparing these annual 
financial statements and the Companies Act 71 of  2008 
of South Africa, as amended.
  
The audited annual financial statements have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, and the Companies Act of 2008. 
The financial statements have been prepared on the 
historical cost basis, and incorporate the principal 
accounting policies set out below. They are presented in 
South African Rands. 

These accounting policies are consistent with the 
previous period. 

Significant judgements and sources of estimation 
uncertainty, in preparing the audited annual financial 
statements,  management is required to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the amounts represented in 
the financial statements and related disclosures. Use of 
available information and the application of judgement 
is inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results 
in the future could differ from these estimates which 
may be material to the financial statements. Significant 
judgements include: 

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND LOANS RECEIVABLE
The company assesses its Trade receivables and Loans 
receivable for impairment at the end of each reporting 
period. In determining whether an impairment loss 
should be recorded in surplus or loss, the company 
makes judgements as to whether there is observable 
data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated 
future cash flows from a financial asset. 

FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade 
receivables are assumed to approximate their fair values. 
The carrying value of trade creditors are assumed to 
approximate their fair values. 

DEFERRED INCOME
Management applies judgement in assessing whether 
grant income cannot be matched to the related cost and 
therefore will be deferred. 

DEPRECIATION RATES AND RESIDUAL VALUES
Management applies estimation and judgement in 
determining the useful lives and residual values of 

property, plant and equipment. 

VALUATION OF EXHIBITS
Management view the exhibits as unique assets, however 
management will still apply judgement in determining 
the useful lives and fair value of the exhibitions under 
Property, Plant and Equipment. 

The exhibits will be treated under the normal Property, 
Plant and Equipment accounting policy. 

REVALUATION OF BUILDINGS
Land and buildings are revalued independently every five 
years. A more frequent valuation will be obtained if there 
is evidence that indicates this is necessary. The buildings 
were revalued based on market equivalent values.

Revaluations are based on current market conditions. 

These accounting policies are consistent with the 
previous period. 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset where it is probable that future 
economic  benefits associated with the item will flow to 
the company; and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at 
cost. 

Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire or 
construct an item of property, plant and equipment 
and costs incurred subsequently to add to, replace part 
of, or service it. If a replacement cost is recognised in 



the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and 
equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognised. 

Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses 
except for buildings which is carried at revalued amount 
being the fair value at the date of revaluation less any 
subsequent accumulated  depreciation and subsequent 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Revaluations are made with sufficient regularity such that 
the carrying amount does not differ materially from that 
which would be determined using fair value at the end of 
the reporting period. Any increase in an asset’s carrying 
amount, as a result of a revaluation, is recognised to 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the 
revaluation surplus in equity. The increase is recognised 
in surplus or loss to the extent that it reverses valuation 
decrease of the same asset previously recognised in  
surplus or loss. 

Any decrease in an asset’s carrying amount, as a result 
of a revaluation, is recognised in surplus or loss in the 
current period. 

The decrease is recognised in other comprehensive 
income to the extent of any credit balance existing in 
the revaluation  surplus in respect of that asset. The 
decrease recognised in other comprehensive income 
reduces the amount accumulated in the revaluation 
surplus in Reserves. 

The revaluation surplus in reserves related to a specific 
item of property, plant and equipment is transferred 
directly to retained earnings as the asset is used. The 
amount transferred is equal to the difference between 
depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount and 
depreciation based on the original cost of the asset. 

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the 
straight line basis over their expected useful lives to 
their estimated residual value. 

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method 
of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting 
year. If the expectations differ from previous estimates, 
the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in 
accounting estimate. 

Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment 
with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost 
of the item is depreciated separately. 

The depreciation charge for each year is recognised 
in surplus or loss unless it is included in the carrying 
amount of another asset. 

Impairment tests are performed on property, plant and 
equipment when there is an indicator that they may 
 

ITEM DEPRECIATION METHOD AVERAGE USEFUL LIFE

Buildings Straight-line 70 Years

Appliances Straight-line 4 Years

Plant and machinery Straight-line 5 Years

Furniture and fixtures Straight-line 7 Years

Motor vehicles Straight-line 7 Years

Office equipment Straight-line 5 Years

IT equipment Straight-line 4 Years

Exhibits Straight-line 10 Years

Laboratory equipment Straight-line 4 Years

Signage Straight-line 4 Years

Telephone equipment Straight-line 7 Years

Tools Straight-line 5 Years

The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:



65

projects. The cost of these projects will be capitalised to 
the asset. Completed projects will be recognised under 
property, plant and equipment on completion. 

Once the asset has reached the location and condition as 
intended by management, capitisation of the costs cease. 
These costs are expensed in the statement of surplus. 

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

An intangible asset is recognised when:

• it is probable that the expected future economic 
benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to 
the entity;

• the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. 

Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an 
internal project) is recognised as an expense when it is 
incurred.

An intangible asset arising from development (or 
from the development phase of an internal project) is 
recognised when: 

• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that 
it will be available for use or sale.

• there is an intention to complete and use or sell it. 
• there is an ability to use or sell it.
• it will generate probable future economic benefits. 
• there are available technical, financial and other 

resources to complete the development and to use 
or sell the asset.

• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its 
development can be measured reliably.

 
Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and any impairment losses. 

An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite 
useful life when, based on all relevant factors, there is 
no foreseeable limit to the period over which the asset 
is expected to generate net cash inflows. Amortisation 
is not provided for these  intangible assets, but they are 
tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an 
indication that the asset may be impaired. For all other 
intangible assets amortisation is provided on a straight 
line basis over their useful life. 

The amortisation period and the amortisation method 
for intangible assets are reviewed every period-end. 

Reassessing the useful life of an intangible asset with 
a finite useful life after it was classified as indefinite is 
an indicator that  the asset may be impaired. As a result 
the asset is tested for impairment and the remaining 
carrying amount is amortised over its useful life.

be impaired. When the carrying amount of an item of 
property, plant and equipment is assessed to be higher 
than the estimated recoverable amount, an impairment 
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss to bring 
the carrying amount in line with the recoverable amount. 

An item  of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected  from its continued use or disposal. Any 
gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item 
of property, plant and equipment, determined as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and 
the carrying amount of the item, is included in surplus or 
loss when the item is derecognised.

CAPITAL WORK IN PROGRESS
The company has capital work in progress that are 
disclosed as property, plant and equipment for the current 



Internally generated brands, mastheads, publishing 
titles, customer lists and items similar in substance are 
not recognised as intangible assets. 

Amortisation is provided to write down the intangible 
assets, on a straight-line basis, to their residual values 
as follows:

ITEM  USEFUL LIFE
Software 5 Years
Website  5 Years

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial instruments held by the company are classified 
in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments.

CLASSIFICATION
The company classifies financial assets and financial 
liabilities into the following categories:

• financial assets at fair value through surplus or loss 
- designated

• loans and receivables
• financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Classification depends on the purpose for which the 
financial instruments were obtained / incurred and takes 
place at initial recognition. Classification is re-assessed 
on an annual basis, except for derivatives and financial 
assets designated as at fair value through surplus or 
loss, which shall not be classified out of the fair value 
through surplus or loss category. 

INITIAL RECOGNITION AND MEASUREMENT
Financial instruments are recognised initially when the 
company becomes a party to the contractual provisions 
of the instruments.

The company classifies financial instruments, or their 
component parts, on initial recognition as a financial 
asset, a financial liability or a reserves instrument 
in accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangement. 

Financial instruments are measured initially at fair 
value, except for Reserves investments for which a fair 
value is not determinable, which are measured at cost 
and are classified as available-for-sale financial assets. 

For financial instruments which are not at fair value 
through surplus or loss, transaction costs are included 
in the initial measurement of the instrument. 

Transaction costs on financial instruments at fair value 
through surplus or loss are recognised in surplus or 
loss. 

SUBSEQUENT MEASUREMENT
Financial instruments at fair value through surplus or 
loss are subsequently measured at fair value, with gains 
and losses  arising from changes in fair value being 
included in surplus or loss for the period. 

Loans and receivables are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost, using the effective interest method, less 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
method. 

DERECOGNITION
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the investments have expired or 
have been transferred and the company has transferred 
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 

FAIR VALUE DETERMINATION
The fair values of quoted investments are based on current 
bid prices. If the market for a financial asset is not active 
(and for unlisted securities), the company establishes 
fair value by using valuation techniques. These include 
the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference 
to other instruments that are substantially the same, 
discounted cash flow analysis, and option pricing models 
making maximum use of market inputs and relying as 
little as possible on entity-specific inputs.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables are measured at initial recognition at 
fair value, and are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest rate method. Appropriate 
allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are 
recognised in surplus or loss when there is objective 
evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will 
enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default 
or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue)  
are considered indicators that the trade receivable is 
impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as 
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount 
and the present value of estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the effective interest rate computed at 
initial recognition. 

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the 
use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is 
recognised in surplus or loss within operating expenses. 
When a trade receivable is uncollectable, it is written 
off against the allowance account for trade receivables. 
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written 
off are credited against operating expenses in surplus 
or loss.

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and 
receivables.
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value, and 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the 
effective interest rate method. 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and 
demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known 
amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk 
of changes in value. These are initially and subsequently 
recorded at fair value. 

INVENTORIES

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value on the weighted average cost. 

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make 
the sale. 

The cost of inventories comprises of all costs of purchase, 
costs of conversion and other costs incurred in bringing 
the inventories to their present location and condition. 

The cost of inventories of items that are not ordinarily 
interchangeable and goods or services produced and 
segregated for specific projects is assigned using 
specific identification of the individual costs. 

The cost of inventories is assigned using the weighted 
average cost formula. The same cost formula is used 
for all inventories having a similar nature and use to  
the entity. 

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those 
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period in 
which the related revenue is recognised. The amount of 
any write-down of inventories to net realisable value and 

all losses of inventories are recognised as an expense in 
the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount 
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising 
from an increase in net realisable value, are recognised 
as a reduction in the amount of inventories recognised 
as an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs. 

IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS

The company assesses at each end of  the  reporting 
period whether there is any indication that an asset may 
be impaired. If any such indication exists, the company 
estimates the recoverable amount of the asset. 

Irrespective of whether there is any indication of 
impairment, the company also: 

• tests intangible assets with an indefinite useful 
life or intangible assets not yet available for use 
for impairment annually by comparing its carrying 
amount with its recoverable amount. This impairment 
test is performed during the annual period and at the 
same time every period.

• tests goodwill acquired in a business combination for 
impairment annually.

If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, 
the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual 
asset. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount 
of the cash-generating unit to  which the asset belongs 
is determined. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating 
unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its 
value in   use. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an 
impairment loss.

An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any 
accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised 
immediately in surplus or loss. Any impairment loss of a 
revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease. 



An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there 
is any indication that an impairment loss recognised 
in prior periods for assets other than goodwill may no 
longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amounts  of those assets are 
estimated. 

The increased carrying amount of an asset other than 
goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment 
loss does not exceed the carrying amount that would 
have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior periods. 

A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost 
less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other 
than goodwill is recognised immediately in surplus or 
loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued 
asset is treated as a revaluation increase. 

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

SHORT-TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable 
within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as 
paid vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-
monetary benefits such as medical care), are recognised 
in the period in which the service is rendered and are not 
discounted. 

DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLANS
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit 
plans are charged as an expense as they fall due. 

PROVISIONS AND CONTINGENCIES

Provisions are recognised when:
• the company has a present obligation as a result of a 

past event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying 

economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation;

• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.

The amount of a provision is the present value of the 
expenditure expected to be required to settle the 
obligation. The amount  of a provision is the present 
value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle 
the obligation. The provision shall be initially recognised 
at the best possible estimate at the reporting date. This 
value should take into account, if material, the time 
value of money. When the provision has a re-imbursive 
condition from a third party, the reimbursement asset 
is to be  recognised separately on when it is virtually 
certain payment will be received. 

Provisions are not recognised for future operating 
losses. 

Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not 
recognised. 

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised when there is 
reasonable assurance that: 

• the company will comply with the conditions 
attaching to them; and

• the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised as income over the 
periods necessary to match them with the related costs 
that they are intended to compensate. 

Government grants related to assets, including non-
monetary grants at fair value, are presented in the 
statement of financial position by setting up the grant 
as deferred income or by deducting the grant in arriving 
at the carrying amount of the asset. Grants related to 
income are presented as a credit in the surplus or loss 
(separately). 
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REVENUE

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable and represents the amounts 
receivable for goods and services provided in the normal  
course of business, net of trade discounts and volume 
rebates, and value added  tax.

Interest is recognised, in surplus or loss, using the 
effective interest rate method. 

Gate entrance fee is recognised when the amount is 
received.

Donations are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that future economic benefits will flow into the company 
and revenue can be reliably measured. 

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to  the 
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying 
asset are capitalised  as part of the cost of that asset 
until such time as the asset is ready for its intended use. 
The amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation 
is determined as follows: 

• Actual borrowing costs on funds specifically borrowed 
for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset less 
any temporary investment of those borrowings.

• Weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable 
to the entity on funds generally borrowed for the 
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset. The borrowing 
costs capitalised do not exceed the total borrowing 
costs incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs commences when:

• expenditures for the asset have occurred;
• borrowing costs have been incurred, and

• activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for 
its intended use or sale are in progress.

Capitalisation is suspended during extended periods in 
which active development is interrupted.

Capitalisation ceases when substantially all the activities 
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended 
use or sale are complete. 

All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense 
in the period in which they are incurred. 

TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN 
CURRENCIES FOREIGN CURRENCY 
TRANSACTIONS

A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial 
recognition in Rands, by applying to the foreign currency 
amount the spot exchange rate between the functional 
currency and the foreign currency at the date of the 
transaction. 

At the end of the reporting period:

• foreign currency monetary items are translated 
using the closing rate;

• non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction; 
and

• exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and
• non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in 

a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of 
monetary items or on translating monetary items at 
rates different from those at which they were translated 
on initial recognition during the period or in previous 

annual financial statements are recognised   in profit or 
loss in the period in which they arise. 

DEFERRED INCOME

Government grants shall be recognised in surplus or loss 
on a systematic basis over the periods in which the entity 
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the 
grants are intended to compensate. 

Grants related to income are presented as part of surplus 
or loss, either separately or under a general heading 
such as ‘Other income’; alternatively, they are deducted 
in reporting the related expense. 
 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

2. NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

2.1 STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The company has chosen not to early adopt the following standards and interpretations, which have been published and are mandatory for the company’s accounting periods 
beginning on or after 01 March 2019 or later periods:  

 

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

Cost or 
revaluation

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Cost or
revaluation

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying 
value

Buildings 442,612,119 (45,746,166) 396,865,953 442,093,412 (40,073,181) 402,020,231
Furniture and fixtures 3,494,763 (2,256,140) 1,238,623 4,525,914 (2,895,571) 1,630,343
Motor vehicles 1,907,470 (1,051,891) 855,579 1,882,070 (874,900) 1,007,170
Office equipment 3,656,383 (2,472,537) 1,183,846 3,734,196 (2,310,737) 1,423,459
IT equipment 12,472,785 (7,448,494) 5,024,291 14,472,867 (8,283,800) 6,189,067
Computer software 101,033 (55,928) 45,105 64,275 (50,466) 13,809
Leasehold improvements 15,093,326 (11,673,448) 3,419,878 14,189,138 (10,949,257) 3,239,881
Laboratory equipment 1,130,630 (842,662) 287,968 1,130,630 (725,967) 404,663
Signage 221,919 (124,847) 97,072 236,575 (130,624) 105,951
Telephone equipment 102,252 (89,254) 12,998 207,333 (160,146) 47,187
Tools 151,273 (135,173) 16,100 146,165 (130,789) 15,376
Capital - Work in progress 123,394 - 123,394 719,014 - 719,014
Total 481,067,347 (71,896,540) 409,170,807 483,401,589 (66,585,438) 416,816,150

STANDARD/INTERPRETATION EFFECTIVE DATE: YEARS BEGINNING ON OR AFTER EXPECTED IMPACT

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 01 January 2021 Unlikely there will be a material impact

Uncertainty over income tax 01 January 2019 Unlikely there will be a material impact

IFRS 16 Leases 01 January 2019 Unlikely there will be a material impact
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Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2019

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

Opening 
balance Additions Disposals Transfers Depreciation Total

Buildings 402,020,231 518,706 - - (5,672,984) 396,865,953
Furniture and fixtures 1,630,343 97,283 (220,734) - (268,269) 1,238,623
Motor vehicles 1,007,170 25,400 - - (176,991) 855,579
Office equipment 1,423,459 183,388 (25,970) - (397,031) 1,183,846
IT equipment 6,189,067 1,657,545 (802,429) - (2,019,892) 5,024,291
Appliances 13,809 43,404 (1,768) - (10,340) 45,105
Exhibits 3,239,881 904,188 - - (724,191) 3,419,878
Laboratory equipment 404,663 1 - - (116,696) 287,968
Signage 105,951 - (326) - (8,553) 97,072
Telephone equipment 47,187 - (24,435) - (9,754) 12,998
Tools 15,376 5,108 - - (4,384) 16,100
Capital - Work in progress 719,014 - - (595,620) - 123,394

416,816,151 3,435,023 (1,075,662) (595,620) (9,409,085) 409,170,807



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019
  2019

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2018

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

Opening 
balance

Additions Disposals Other changes,
 movements

Depreciation Total

Buildings 406,956,537 643,940 - - (5,580,246) 402,020,231
Furniture and fixtures 1,921,295 185,502 - - (476,454) 1,630,343
Motor vehicles 519,679 657,250 - - (169,759) 1,007,170
Office equipment 1,457,052 322,996 - - (356,589) 1,423,459
IT equipment 6,205,298 2,276,881 - - (2,293,112) 6,189,067
Appliances 18,235 - (1,068) 962 (4,320) 13,809
Exhibits 4,039,420 - (980,845) 826,727 (645,421) 3,239,881
Laboratory equipment 560,433 - (6,000) 2,250 (152,020) 404,663
Signage 129,731 - - - (23,780) 105,951
Telephone equipment 45,180 7,680 - - (5,673) 47,187
Tools 16,096 - - - (720) 15,376
Capital - Work in progress 22,947 696,067 - - - 719,014

421,891,903 4,790,316 (987,913) 829,939 (9,708,094) 416,816,151
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Revaluations

Land and buildings are re-valued independently every 5 years. Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying amounts do not differ materially from 
those that would be determined using fair values at the end of each reporting period. Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is recognised 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, in 
which case the increase is credited to profit and loss to the extent of the decrease previously expensed. A decrease in the carrying amount arising on the revaluation of such land 
and buildings is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the properties revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of that asset. 
The buildings were not revalued during the year. The last revaluation was conducted on the 1st August 2016, by an independent valuation brokering company, Mirfin Contrywide 
Property Valuations; and Mr Gavin Jacobs with valuer registration number 3368/2 was seconded to conduct the valuation, based on market equivalent values in the area. 

These assumptions were based on current market conditions in 2016.

                  

A register containing the information required by Regulation 25(3) of the Companies Regulations, 2011 is available for inspection at the registered office of the company.

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

 Buildings 285,232,166 284,980,569
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4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

Cost/ 
Valuation

Accumulated
Amortisation Carrying value Cost/ 

Valuation
Accumulated
Amortisation Carrying value

Computer software 329,994 (292,770) 37,224 329,994 (276,200) 53,794
Website development costs 49,840 (49,840) - 49,840 (49,840) -
Total 379,834 (342,610) 37,224 379,834 (326,040) 53,794

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2019

Opening 
balance Amortisation Total

Computer software 53,794 (16,570) 37,224

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2018

Opening 
balance Disposals

Accumulated
amortisation on 
disposed assets

Amortisation Total

Computer software, internally generated 658,893 (749,673) 296,127 (151,553) 53,794

5. INVENTORIES

Inventories (Science Shop) 30,606 -

A souvenir shop was opened in July 2018 to service the customers with educational consumables (especially related to the science shows offered at the centre). Inventories are stated at 
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated  using the weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs to be 
incurred in marketing and selling.



75

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019

Figures in Rand 2019 2018

6. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Financial instruments:
Trade receivables 12,801,556 847,090
Deposits 293,097 293,097
Payments in advance 540,073 540,073

Non-financial instruments:

VAT 37,501,264 33,116,318

Employee costs in advance 1,043,748 -
Total trade and other receivables 52,179,738 34,796,578

Split between non-current and current portions

Current assets 52,179,738 34,796,578

Categorisation of trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are categorised as follows in accordance with IFRS 9: Financial Instruments:

At amortised cost 13,634,726 1,680,260
Non-financial instruments 38,545,012 33,116,318

52,179,738 34,796,578

As of 28 February 2019, trade and other receivables of R745,445 (2018: R528,995) were impaired and provided for. The ageing of these receivables is over 180 days.

Gross receivables can be analysed as follows: 

2019 Advances Current not yet 
past due

Past due but not 
impaired

Impaired  
amount

Total gross
amount   

Advances 540,073 - - - 540,073 
Trade receivables - - 8,407,801 (745,445) 12,801,556 
Sundry receivables - - 24,593 -  1,043,748
VAT  - - 37,501,264 - 37,501,264
Deposits - - 293,097 - 293,097

540,073 6,158,355 46,226,755 (745,445) 52,179,738
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Fair value information

Financial assets at fair value through surplus or loss are recognised at fair value, which is therefore equal to their carrying amounts.

The following classes of financial assets at fair value through surplus or loss are measured to fair value using quoted market price. 

The listed units as at 28 February 2019 are as follows:
Nedbank Group Investment Core Income Fund C2          147,545,184.61 units at 1.0012 cents / units
Nedbank Core Income ABIL Retention Fund A     1,128,728.76 units at 1.0911 cents / units

7. INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE

Investments held by the company which are measured at fair value, are as follows
Nedgroup Investments Core Income Fund C2 147,722,239 177,078,084
Nedgroup Investments Core Income ABIL Retention Fund A 1,231,556 1,541,906

148,953,795 178,619,990
Designated at fair value through profit or loss:
Investments at fair value 148,953,795 178,619,990

148,953,795 178,619,990

Gross receivables can be analysed as follows: 

2018 
Advances Current not yet 

past due
Past due but not 

impaired
Impaired  

amount
Total gross

amount   

Advances 540,073 - - - 540,073 
Trade receivables - - 1,351,493 (528,995) 822,498 
Sundry receivables - - 434,230 (409,638) 24,592
VAT  - - 33,116,318 - 33,116,318
Deposits - - 293,097 - 293,097

540,073 - 35,195,138 (938,633) 34,796,578 

 Figures in Rand
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8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

Cash on hand 8,677 15,051
Bank balances 21,565,458 5,332,226
Other cash and cash equivalents 113,998 423,353

21,688,133 5,770,630

9. REVALUATION RESERVE

The revaluation reserve relates to the take-on assets from Jet Education Services on inception of Sci-Bono Discovery Centre NPC for no consideration in the period ended 28 February 2005. 
The asset taken over, where accounted for at the fair value at the date of transfer. 

Opening balance 168,167,789 170,880,173
Amortization of assets during the year (2,712,383) (2,712,384)

165,455,406 168,167,789

Fair value hierarchy of financial assets at fair value through surplus or loss
For financial assets recognised at fair value, disclosure is required of a fair value hierarchy which reflects the significance of the inputs used to make the measurements. 

Level 1 represents those assets which are measured using unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets.
Level 2 applies inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the assets either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).
Level 3 applies inputs which are not based on observable market data.  

Initial adoption of IFRS 9

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments was adopted in the current year and replaces IAS 39. This note reflects the application of IFRS 9 to the specified instruments. Prior year figures have not been 
restated. Refer to the “other financial assets” note for disclosure  of the comparative figures in accordance with IAS 39. 

 Figures in Rand
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10. PROVISIONS

Reconciliation of provisions - 2019

Opening 
balance Additions Total

Provision for leave pay 1,443,546 152,921 1,596,467

Reconciliation of provisions - 2018

Opening 
balance Additions Total

Provision for leave pay 1,193,367 250,179 1,443,546

2019 2018

11. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Financial instruments:
Trade payables 2,063,056 8,225,772
Accrued expenses 873,222 2,040
Payroll accruals 3,608,927 2,329,487
Deposits received 111,372 111,372

6,656,577 10,668,665

The average credit period for certain goods is five months. Interest is not charged on these amounts as they are within the  credit limits granted by the suppliers. Interest is charged at an 
average rate of 4.5% on overdue outstanding balances. The amount of interest paid on overdue amounts is R24,341 (2018: R1,495). 
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12. DEFERRED INCOME (GOVERNMENT GRANTS)

Non-current liabilities 189,763,110 192,925,829

Current liabilities - 4,500,000
189,763,110 197,425,829

Non-current liabilities 
The deferred income relates to government grant received for the construction of phase I and II, which was completed in the financial year ended 28 February 2011. The deferred income would 
be amortised and realised as income over the useful lives  of the building. The nature and extent of government grants recognised in the audited annual financial statements and an indication 
of other forms of government assistance from which the entity has directly benefited. 

Current liabilites
The deferred income recognised was relating to unfulfilled conditions attached to the grant assistance received in the 2017/18 financial year. The unfulfilled grant conditions were completed 
within the financial year, the income was recognised in the Statement of Comprehesive Income. 

Deferred income reconciliation 

2019 Opening   
balance

Deferred income 
recognised during 

the year

Grant income 
received

Grant income   
utilised Total 

Non-current liabilities 192,925,829 (3,162,718) - - 189,763,110 
Current liabilities 4,500,000 (4,500,000) 234,781,461 (234,781,461) -

197,425,829 (7,662,718) 234,781,461 (234,781,461) 189,763,110 

Deferred income reconciliation 

2018 Opening   
balance

Deferred income 
recognised during 

the year

Grant income 
received

Grant income   
utilised Total 

Non-current liabilities 196,088,547 (3,162,718) - - 192,925,829 
Current liabilities 105,321,257 - 191,326,541 (292,147,798) 4,500,000 

301,409,804 (3,162,718) 191,326,541 (292,147,798) 197,425,829
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13. REVENUE

Revenue from contracts with customers

Souvenir Shop sales 47,558 -

Gate takings, Venue hire and Training Income 2,743,568 1,650,323
2,791,126 1,650,323

Revenue other than from contracts with customers
Rental income 549,242 487,702

3,340,368 2,138,025

14. COST OF SALES

Sale of goods (stock for the Souvenir Shop) 20,969 -

A souvenir shop was opened in July 2018 to service the customers with educational consumables (especially related to the science shows offered at the centre).

15. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Birthday Bookings 289,335 276,252
Parking fees 76,750 58,000
Access card issue fee 700 -
Team building income 73,375 -
Other income 493,537 -

933,697 334,252

16. OTHER OPERATING SURPLUS (DEFICIT) 

Surplus (deficit) on disposals, scrappings and settlements
Property, plant and equipment (Revaluations, Sales & Losses on Assets) 3 (1,075,660) (611,520)

Foreign exchange surplus (deficit) 
Net foreign exchange gains 25,592 39,212
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17. OPERATING SURPLUS (DEFICIT)

Operating surplus/(deficit) for the year is stated after charging (crediting) the following, amongst others:

Auditor’s remuneration 
Audit fees 504,039 1,508,226

18. INVESTMENT INCOME

Interest income 
Investments in financial assets:
Bank and other cash 12,925,063 124,107,764

The investment income is generated from two sources, Nedbank Investment Fund and Standard bank Call Account. The Nedbank Investment Fund generated interest at annualized total rate 
of 7.64% and the rate generated by the Standard Bank Call Account is 6.15%.

The average credit period for certain goods is five months. Interest is not charged on these amounts as they are within the  credit limits granted by the suppliers. Interest is charged at an 
average rate of 4.5% on overdue outstanding balances. The amount of interest paid on overdue amounts is R24,341 (2018: R1,495). 

19. FINANCE COSTS

Interest paid 24,341 1,495 
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20. TAXATION

Major components of the tax expense 

The company has been approved as a Public Benefit Organisation (PBO) in terms of section 30 of the Income Tax Act, (the  Act) and the receipts and accruals are exempt from income tax in 
terms of section 10(1)(cN) of the Act.

The investment income is generated from two sources, Nedbank Investment Fund and Standard bank Call Account. The Nedbank Investment Fund generated interest at annualized total rate 
of 7.64% and the rate generated by the Standard Bank Call Account is 6.15%.

21. CASH USED IN OPERATIONS

(Loss) profit before taxation 7,525,050 35,362,632
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 9,425,657 9,859,647
Losses on disposals, scrappings and settlements of assets and liabilities 1,075,660 611,520
Gains on foreign exchange (25,592) (39,212)
Interest income (12,925,063) (19,010,067)
Finance costs 24,341 1,494
Movements in provisions 152,921 250,179
Other non-cash items 646,805 (533,097)

Movements due to restated figures - 19,998,822
Changes in working capital:

Inventories (30,606) -
Trade and other receivables (net of impaired amount) (17,383,160) 6,559,216
Trade and other payables (4,012,094) (8,177,938)
Deferred income (Government grants) (7,662,718) (123,371,277)

(23,188,799) (78,488,081)
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22. RELATED PARTIES

Relationships
Gauteng Department of Education (GDE)

The GDE is a related party as a result of, when Sci- Bono was incorporated, there was and still there is a common purpose to promote scientific literacy and PUSET (Public Understanding of 
Science Education and Technology) and to improve maths, science, technology skills and education as well as other related subjects in the schooling system in the Gauteng Province and in 
whole country in general. 

On an annual basis, Sci-Bono applies for funding, on specific activities that are directly linked to the above common purpose. 

Related party balances

Grant income received from related parties
Gauteng department of Education (GDE) 209,153,365 191,326,541

Compensation to directors and other key management
Remuneration to directors and other key management 8,148,053 6,998,653
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23. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Executive - 2019

Emoluments Other Benefits* Company Contributions** Total

Dr. Chakane, Moretsele Morrison 1,441,413 102,489 187,605 1,731,507
Mr. Davids, Anele Jeremiah Stephen 920,475 68,376 121,042 1,109,893 

Ms. Gule, Tebogo 1,016,801 74,791 122,443 1,214,035
Ms. Mapela, Fikile 920,867 68,376 120,650 1,109,893 
Ms. Mtshali, Mbali 597,374 40,681 78,626 716,681 
Mr. Tsotetsi, Phehello Raymond 1,146,448 68,062 163,110 1,377,620 

6,043,378 422,775 793,476 7,259,629 

 

Executive - 2018

Emoluments Other Benefits* Company Contributions** Total

Dr. Chakane, Moretsele Morrison 1,328,574 17,798 174,226 1,520,598 
Mr. Davids, Anele Jeremiah Stephen 937,816 45,516 128,383 1,111,715
Ms. Gule, Tobogo 855,271 41,047 118,699 1,015,017
Ms. Mapela, Fikile 949,738 45,516 129,782 1,125,036 
Ms. Mtshali, Mbali 509,620 6,565 69,079 585,264
Mr. Tsotetsi, Phehello Raymond 839,811 7,949 98,890 946,650

5,420,830 164,391 719,059 6,304,280

* Other benefits comprise performance and discretionary bonuses, re-imbursive travelling costs and subsistence.

** Company contributions comprise both medical aid and provident funds.
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Non-executive - 2019

Directors’ fees Travel reimburse expense Total

Prof. Bantwini, Bongani Douglas 133,286 7,622 140,908 
Rev. Chikane, Frank (Deputy Chairperson) 20,000 1,272 21,272 
Prof. Bantwini, Bongani Douglas 99,500 6,228 105,728 
Mr. Gounden, Sathiaseelan 98,000 3,242 101,242 
Ms. Madiba, Nandipha Daphne 81,500 2,053 83,553 
Mr. Malele, Ganelang Zeth 52,000 1,404 53,404
Adv. Mokgatle, Lentswe Gabriel 44,000 6,051 50,051 
Ms. Moloka, Patricia Ntepane 129,000 5,945 134,945 
Dr. Papu-Zamxaka, Vhathiswa Belinda 41,500 3,926 45,426 
Prof. Sitole, Khulekani 90,100 2,189 92,289 
Ms. Manthata, Kgabiso (*) 37,000 1,100 38,100 
Mr. Tibini, Stephen (*) 20,500 1,006 21,506 

846,386 42,038 888,424
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Non-executive - 2018
Directors’ fees Travel reimburse expense Total

Mr. Witbooi, Abbey (Chairperson) 122,500 5,720 128,220 
Rev. Chikane, Frank (Deputy Chairperson) 10,000 620 10,620
Prof. Bantwini, Bongani Douglas 86,000 5,438 91,438 
Ms. Campbell, Gail Marlene (Resigned on 20 July 2018) 2,500 83 2,583
Mr. Gounden, Sathiaseelan 37,500 756 38,256
Ms. Madiba, Nandipha Daphne 33,000 656 33,656
Mr. Malele, Ganelang Zeth 64,000 1,965 65,965

Adv. Mokgatle, Lentswe Gabriel 35,000 2,695 37,695 

Ms. Moloka, Patricia Ntepane 145,500 4,131 149,631
Dr. Papu-Zamxaka, Vhathiswa Belinda 27,000 3,551 30,551 
Prof. Sitole, Khulekani 67,000 1,716 68,716 
Ms. Manthata, Kgabiso (*) 16,000 859 16,859 
Mr. Tibini, Stephen (*) 4,000 278 4,278 

650,000 28,468 678,468

* Independent Audit & Risk Committee (ARC) members

26. CHANGE IN ESTIMATE

Property, plant and equipment
The useful life of certain Property, Plant and Equipment were estimated as per the finance policy during the past financial   years. In the current period management have revised their estimate 
in the various categories of assets, with various number of estimation of years. The effect of this revision has increased the depreciation charges for the current and future periods by R150,629. 

Intangible assets
The useful life of certain  Intangible assets were estimated as per the finance policy during the past financial years. In the  current period management have revised their estimate in the various 
categories of intangible assets, with various number of estimation of years. The effect of this revision has increased the current and future periods by R509 .
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25. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Categories of financial instruments

Categories of financial assets

2019

Note(s) Fair Value Through Profit 
Or Loss - Designated Amortised Cost Non Financial Assets Total Fair Value

Investments at fair value 7 148,953,795 - - 148,953,795 148,953,795 
Trade and other receivables 6 - 13,634,726 38,545,012 52,179,738 -
Cash and cash equivalents 8 - 21,688,133 - 21,688,133 -

148,953,795 35,322,859 38,545,012 222,821,666 148,953,795 

2018

Note(s) Fair Value Through Profit 
Or Loss - Designated Amortised Cost Non Financial Assets Total Fair Value

Investments at fair value 7 178,619,990 - - 178,619,990 178,619,990 
Trade and other receivables 6 - 434,230 34,362,348 34,796,578 -
Cash and cash equivalents 8 - 5,770,630 - 5,770,630 -

178,619,990 6,204,860 34,362,348 219,187,198 178,619,990 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2019
 

Figures in Rand

Categories of financial liabilities

2019

Note(s) Amortised Cost Total Fair Value

Trade and other payables 11 6,656,577 6,656,577 -

2018

Note(s) Amortised Cost Total Fair Value

Trade and other payables 11 10,668,665 10,668,671 -

Capital risk management
The company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the company’s ability to continue as a going concern in  order to provide returns and benefits for stakeholders and to 
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The capital structure of the company consists of cash and cash equivalents disclosed in note 7, and reserves as disclosed 
in  the statement of financial position. 

There are no externally imposed capital requirements.

Trade and other payables 11 6,656,577 10,668,665 

Cash and cash equivalents 8 (21,688,133) (5,770,630)
Net borrowings (15,031,556) 4,898,035

Equity 434,044,149 426,519,102

Gearing ratio (3)% 1 %
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Financial risk management

Overview
The company is exposed to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:
• Credit risk;
• Liquidity risk; and
• Market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk).

Credit risk
Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents and trade debtors. The company only deposits cash with major banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to 
any one counter-party. 

No credit limits were exceeded during the reporting period, and management does not expect any losses from non-  performance by these counterparties. 

The maximum exposure to credit risk is presented in the table below:

2019 2018

Gross Carrying 
Amount

Credit Loss 
Allowance

Amortised 
Cost / Fair Value

Gross Carrying 
Amount

Credit Loss 
Allowance

Amortised 
Cost / Fair Value

Investments at fair value 7 148,953,795 - 148,953,795 178,619,990 - 178,619,990
through profit or loss
Trade and other receivables 6 13,634,726 - 13,634,726 1,680,260 - 1,680,260
Cash and cash equivalents 8 21,688,133 - 21,688,133 5,770,630 - 5,770,630

184,276,654 - 184,276,654 186,070,880 - 186,070,880
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Foreign currency risk
The company does not hedge foreign exchange fluctuations. 

Interest rate risk
As the company has no significant interest-bearing assets, the company’s income and operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. 

26. GOING CONCERN

The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes that funds will be available to finance future 
operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business. 

27. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The directors are not aware of any material event which occurred after the reporting date and up to the date of this report.
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The activities of the Sci-Bono Discovery Centre are funded primarily by the GDE.  
Thank you to our colleagues at the GDE for their continued support and 
encouragement. Sci-Bono also received valuable support from its partners in 
the private sector and from the local and international community. 

FUNDERS

• Honeywell
• Dell
• GDE
• Dow
• South 32
• ECIC 

DONORS

• Total
• Afrox
• KIA
• Culture Engine
• IDC
• Concor Construction
• Nashua
• CAF
• BNP Paribas
• RCS Groups
• French Embassy
• Bolloré

THANK YOU TO OUR FUNDERS AND DONORS
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The art of doing science is 
doing the important things first. 
Sydney Brenner
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